
AGENDA PACKET 
 
 PAGE 
5. Action Items 

a. Consideration and action regarding approval of Minutes of 
February 12, 2021 

2 

•         Tarrant Appraisal District Board of Directors Meeting 
Minutes February 12, 2021  

3 

5. Action Items 
b. Consideration and action relative to engaging Ad Valorem 

Protest Review services 

7 

•           By Year, Protests to Parcel Comparisons (March 18, 2021); 
provided by Mr. DeOtte on March 18, 2021  

8 

•        Agenda Packet Supplement (January 2021); provided by 
Mr. Law    

12 

o Updated material provided by Mr. Law in response 
to Mr. DeOtte’s request that research be expanded 
to include years 2009 through 2014 (January 2021)          

13 

o Letter from Senator Nelson (April 30, 2020)        16 
o Letter from Mr. Law (December 9, 2020) 17 
o Report Responding to Senator Nelson’s Requests 

About Property Tax Appraisals in Tarrant County 
and Related Issues (December 9, 2020)  

19 

 Exhibit 1 31 
 Exhibit 2 32 
 Exhibit 3 37 

• Ad Valorem Protest Review Services Request for 
Qualifications (November 6, 2020)  

38 

• Communications Survey Services Request for 
Qualifications (November 6, 2020) 

71 

•  Statewide Appraisal Protests by Large Urban County 
(February 13, 2020) – prepared by Mr. DeOtte 

84 

•          Aumentum Independent Verification and Validation 
Proced-ures:  Results (December 16, 2016); mark-up 
provided by Mr. DeOtte on March 18, 2021 

85 

6. Information Item 
Report by Taxpayer Liaison Officer 

111 

o Taxpayer Liaison Officer Monthly Report to TAD Board of 
Directors – February 2021 

112 

 
 
 

 



5. Action Items

a. Consideration and action regarding approval of Minutes of
February 12, 2021

002



Page 1 of 4 

Tarrant Appraisal District 
Board of Directors Meeting Minutes 

February 12, 2021 

Due to health and safety concerns related to the COVID-19 epidemic, 
the February 12, 2021 meeting was conducted by telephone 
conference call in accordance with the Texas Open Meeting Act, 
suspensions of certain requirements of the Act announced by the 
Office of the Texas Governor on March 16, 2020 and applicable 
directives and guidance from the Governor since the state of disaster 
was first declared on March 13, 2020. 

These Minutes are a summary of only the subjects the Board 
addressed and the actions it took.  For details, see the Agenda, 
complete Agenda Packet(s), and full Audio Recording of the February 
12, 2021 meeting that are posted on Tarrant Appraisal District’s 
website at this URL: 

https://www.tad.org/about/board-of-directors/ 
Times noted in parentheses below refer to that Audio Recording. 

Members who participated by telephone conference call:  
Ms. Kathryn Wilemon, Chairman 
Mr. Rich DeOtte, Secretary 
Ms. Wendy Burgess 
Mr. Gary Losada 
Mr. J. R. Martinez 
Mr. Tony Pompa 

Also participating: 
Mr. Jeff Law, Chief Appraiser 
Ms. Catherine Jane Alder, District’s attorney 

Ms. Wilemon called the meeting to order (starts at 0:00:09); Mr. Law verified the presence 
of a quorum (with five of the six members present and Mr. Pompa absent at that time) 
and verified timely posting of notice of the meeting; Mr. Martinez led the pledge of 
allegiance and delivered the invocation.  The Board then took up the following Agenda 
items. 

4. Recognize Visitors; Hear Public Comments (starts at 0:02:10; resumes at
0:12:24)

The Board recognized and heard comments from Mr. Daniel J. Bennett.

5. Action Items (starts at 0:17:37)

003

https://www.tad.org/about/board-of-directors/


Page 2 of 4 
 

Mr. Pompa having joined the meeting and Mr. DeOtte’s audio connection having 
been reestablished, Mr. DeOtte moved to remove Action Item 5(c) from this 
agenda and postpone discussion of that issue until a special meeting in March; Mr. 
Martinez seconded the motion; and the motion carried unanimously.  

 
a. Consent Agenda Items (starts at 0:20:20) 
 

Ms. Wilemon called for a motion to approve Consent Agenda Items; Mr. 
DeOtte asked to pull Items 5(a)(4) and 5(a)(5) from the Consent Agenda. 
 
Mr. DeOtte moved to approve Consent Agenda Items 5(a)(1) through 
5(a)(3); Mr. Martinez seconded the motion; and the motion carried 
unanimously.  

 
(1) Consider and Act on Approval of Minutes of January 15, 2021 

Meeting  
 
(2) Consider and Act on Renewal of the Annual “CoStar Suite” 

Subscription 
 
 Staff Recommendation approved:  
 

Authorize renewal of the annual subscription with CoStar 
Realty Information, Inc. for the “CoStar Suite” of services at a 
total cost not to exceed $51,482.52. 

 
(3) Consider and Act on Purchase of Microsoft Office 2019 License 

Upgrade 
 

Staff Recommendation approved:  
 
Authorize purchase of Microsoft Office 2019 Software Part # 021-
10626, # 381-04518, and # 79P-05746 through Texas Department 
of Information Resources contract # DIR-TSO-4092 in an amount not 
to exceed $80,452.52. 

 
(4) Consider and Act on proposed revision of Personnel Policies 

and Procedures (starts at 0:21:42) 
 

Ms. Burgess moved to approve only the proposed change of Section 
25.0 Telecommuting Policy and revisit later the other items that need 
to be clarified; Mr. DeOtte seconded the motion; and the motion 
carried unanimously. (starts at 1:03:45) 

 

004



Page 3 of 4 

(5) Consider and Act on proposed revision of Purchasing Policies
and Procedures (starts at 1:08:57 in conjunction with Item 5(a)(5);
resumes 2:01:12)

Mr. Pompa moved to approve the policy as presented to us by
counsel with all the changes, including Mr. Losada’s changes we just
made; Mr. Martinez seconded the motion; and the motion carried
unanimously.

b. Consider and Act on proposed further amendment of Purchasing
Policies and Procedures to provide:  “That  any contract, Billing
Agreement or Letter of Agreement in excess of $50,000 individually or
in the aggregate whether provided for or not in the budget be
submitted to the TAD Board of Directors for approval prior to
issuance” (starts at 1:11:25)

Mr. Losada moved,
That Tarrant Appraisal District Board of Directors adopt the 
following resolution, ‘Now therefore let it be resolved that the 
Tarrant Appraisal District Board of Directors hereby amends 
the Purchasing Policies and Procedures to read, “That any 
contract, Billing Agreement or Letter of Agreement in excess 
of $50,000 individually or in the aggregate whether provided 
for or not in the budget be submitted to the TAD Board of 
Directors for approval prior to issuance.” 

Mr. DeOtte seconded the motion; and the motion carried unanimously. 

c. Consideration and action relative to engaging Ad Valorem Protest
Review services

As noted above, the Board removed this item from this agenda and
postponed discussion of that issue until a called meeting in March.

6. Information Items (starts at 2:07:00)

a. Report by Taxpayer Liaison Officer (starts at 2:13:56)

Ms. Jacobson reported matters referred to her in January 2021 and recapped
activity in 2020.

b. Report by ARB Chairman

Mr. Bunker gave no report.

c. Report by Chief Appraiser (starts at 2:08:40)

005



Page 4 of 4 
 

Mr. Law reported on the following items and expressed his appreciation for Mr. 
Ron Wright services and condolences to his family on his passing. 
 

(1) Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting from 
Government Finance Officers Association  

 
(2) 2020-21 Final Methods and Assistance Program Review report 

 
7. Propose Future Agenda Items; Set Next Meeting Date; Adjourn (starts at 

2:17:00) 
 

Other than Item 5(c) being removed from this agenda and postponed to be 
discussed in a called meeting in March, as noted above, there were no suggestions 
for future agenda items. 
 
The called meeting will be Friday, March 26, 2021 at 9:00 a.m. with Board 
members attending in person, if circumstances permit and at each member’s 
option, and with the public participating remotely. 
 
The meeting adjourned. (at 2:27:55) 

006



5. Action Items

b. Consideration and action relative to engaging Ad Valorem
Protest Review services

007



Appraisal District

Protests for 

9.1.1 - 9.1.4

***

# Of Parcels for 

5.1.1,5.1.3 

(% based on 2016) # Of Parcels # Of Protests

Bexar 98,304 695,354 695,354 117,655

Dallas 116,975 836,559 836,559 155,336

Harris 351,432 1,821,544 1,821,544 420,523

Tarrant 126,095 732,538 1,832,240 153,871

Travis 122,815 449,084 449,084 147,695

Appraisal District

Protests for 

9.1.1 - 9.1.4

***

# Of Parcels for 

5.1.1,5.1.3 

(% based on 2016) # Of Parcels # Of Protests

Bexar 89,173 656,395 686,395 108,119

Dallas 113,143 832,174 832,174 138,285

Harris 306,015 1,797,300 1,797,300 371,300

Tarrant 143,105 720,510 1,811,688 148,067

Travis 121,632 439,772 439,772 142,698

Appraisal District

Protests for 

9.1.1 - 9.1.4

***

# Of Parcels for 

5.1.1,5.1.3 

(% based on 2016) # Of Parcels # Of Protests

Bexar 84,032 679,088 679,088 103,268

Dallas 98,929 830,464 830,464 126,967

Harris 324,198 1,826,786 1,826,786 388,762

Tarrant 169,746 712,416 1,755,231 129,594

Travis 106,663 431,339 431,339 126,425

Appraisal District

Protests for 

9.1.1 - 9.1.4

***

# Of Parcels for 

5.1.1,5.1.3 

(% based on 2016) # Of Parcels # Of Protests

Bexar 76,575 670,220 671,217 95,721

Dallas 97,348 826,463 828,387 117,271

By Year, Protests to Parcel Comparisons

2019

2018

2017

2016

008



Harris 318,355 1,618,997 1,623,452 382,555

Tarrant 103,970 695,838 1,253,623 105,132

Travis 95,552 423,981 423,981 115,733

*** Parcel numbers recorded at the comptroller's office has changed over time and the numbers provided herein vary as to source.  They are beleived

           to be representative.

Source:  Comptroller's Office, Operations Survey Data by Year.

009



% Of Protests To 

Parcels # Of Lawsuits % Protests to Parcels

16.92% 1,336 14.1%

18.57% 1,826 14.0%

23.09% 6,455 19.3%

8.40% 1,620 17.2%

32.89% 1,503 27.3%

% Of Protests To 

Parcels # Of Lawsuits % Protests to Parcels

15.75% 1,406 13.6%

16.62% 1,938 13.6%

20.66% 7,353 17.0%

8.17% 1,221 19.9%

32.45% 1,228 27.7%

% Of Protests To 

Parcels # Of Lawsuits % Protests to Parcels

15.21% 1,370 12.4%

15.29% 1,437 11.9%

21.28% 4,980 17.7%

7.38% 980 23.8%

29.31% 894 24.7%

% Of Protests To 

Parcels # Of Lawsuits % Protests to Parcels

14.26% 1,177 11.4%

14.16% 1,413 11.8%

By Year, Protests to Parcel Comparisons

2019

2018

2017

2016

010



23.56% 4,492 19.7%

8.39% 728 14.9%

27.30% 716 22.5%

*** Parcel numbers recorded at the comptroller's office has changed over time and the numbers provided herein vary as to source.  They are beleived

011



AGENDA PACKET 

SUPPLEMENT  

Board of Directors of Tarrant Appraisal District 

January 15, 2021 

012



Agenda Item 6: Review of protests of property tax appraisals in Tarrant County 
as compared to other major metropolitan counties and related 
issues  

In the Board’s meeting on December 11, 2020, Mr. DeOtte requested that the protest 
audit, response to letter from Senator Nelson, and related matters be included as a 
discussion item on the agenda for the next meeting. 

On December 21, Mr. DeOtte asked that research into protests be expanded to include 
years 2009 through 2014.  Staff started doing so.  However, for some of those earlier 
years appraisal districts were not required to collect and report data corresponding 
directly to what TAD staff previously provided to the Board.  For some of the years 2009 
through 2014 that appraisal districts were required to collect and report data that directly 
corresponds to what TAD staff previously provided to the Board for 2015 through 2019, 
collecting and analyzing information is still in progress.  To the extent that data for those 
earlier years are collected and can be used for apples-to-apples comparisons, TAD staff 
will add prior years to the charts provided to the Board on December 9.   

From the information in hand and with some interpolations, TAD staff offers the following 
preliminary overviews: 

Note:  Total parcel counts for 2012 and 2013 for Bexar, Dallas, Harris and Travis counties 
are interpolated based on the best information available to TAD staff. 

013



Source:  Texas A&M Real Estate Research Center 

014



 
Source:  TAD records 
 
For easy reference to background on this agenda item, see the documents that 
follow. 

015



016



December 9, 2020 

Mr. Michael Ruggieri Michael.ruggieri@senate.texas.gov 
Legislative Director 
Office of Senator Jane Nelson 

Dear Mr. Ruggieri: 

The attached report provides updated and corrected information about protests of 
property tax appraisals in Tarrant County.    

In an earlier letter to the former Chairman of Tarrant Appraisal District Board of 
Directors, Senator Nelson wrote that information given to the Senate Committee on 
Finance “demonstrate[s] a significant increase in appraisal protests in Tarrant County” 
over the past five years and that she understood the information to indicate that “the 
number of protests in Tarrant County far exceed the increases in other major 
metropolitan counties”.  I was asked to respond for TAD to Senator Nelson’s letter. 

The attached report corrects information that has led to misconceptions about protests 
in Tarrant County.  It uses the most up-to-date reports published by the Comptroller to 
make and analyze apples-to-apples comparisons of protest data for the five largest 
appraisal districts over the past five years.  It also addresses the other requests in 
Senator Nelson’s earlier letter. 

We will gladly answer questions about the matters summarized in the report and would 
welcome discussion. 

Respectfully, 

Jeff Law 
Executive Director/Chief Appraiser 

cc with attached report: 
Wendy Burgess 
Rich DeOtte 

017

mailto:Michael.ruggieri@senate.texas.gov


Gary Losada 
J.R. Martinez 
Tony Pompa 
Kathryn Wilemon 

018



Page 1 of 12

December 9, 2020 

REPORT RESPONDING TO SENATOR NELSON’S REQUESTS 
ABOUT PROTESTS OF PROPERTY TAX APPRAISALS 

IN TARRANT COUNTY AND RELATED ISSUES 

Information given to the Senate Committee on Finance1 earlier this year has been 
read to “demonstrate[ ] a significant increase in appraisal protests in Tarrant County” 
over the past five years and that “the number of protests in Tarrant County far exceed 
the increases in other major metropolitan counties”.  Some people have suggested fur-
ther and more specifically that (1) the numbers of protests in Tarrant County were ex-
cessive in comparison to protests in the four other largest counties over the past five 
years; and (2) increases in the number of protests in Tarrant County over the past five 
years indicate systemic and ongoing errors or disparities in valuations.  This report pro-
vides corrected and additional information to alleviate these concerns.  

Close study revealed that a critical data point in information given to the Committee – 
“Tot. Protests” for Tarrant County in 2019 – is not correct in the context it is used.  All of 
the other “Tot. Protests” entries on Exhibit 1 are or are very close approximations of the 
numbers that the respective appraisal districts reported to the Comptroller in response 
to item 9.1 in the annual Operations Survey.  Specifically, all of those other numbers are 
“how many protests to the ARB were filed in [the year]”.  The corresponding number for 
Tarrant County for 2019 is 153,871, not 208,000.   

When addressing ALL CATEGORIES OF PROPERTY, this report’s # PROTESTS entry 
for Tarrant County for 2019 is the 153,871 that Tarrant Appraisal District (TAD) reported 
to the Comptroller as “how many protests to the ARB were filed in 2019”.   All other # 
PROTESTS entries for ALL CATEGORIES OF PROPERTY are likewise the exact 
numbers that TAD and the appraisal districts for each of the other four largest counties 
reported to the Comptroller for each of the past five years as “how many protests to the 
ARB were filed in [the year]”.2   

When addressing CATEGORY A – SINGLE-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL PROPERTIES, 
these report’s # PROTESTS entries are the exact numbers that TAD and the appraisal 
districts for the other four largest counties reported to the Comptroller for each of the 

1 Such information includes but is not limited to the table and graphs attached as Exhibit 1. 

2 Texas Comptroller of Public Accounts (“Comptroller”), Property Tax Survey Data and Reports, “Opera-
tions Survey Data”, Additional Resources, https://comptroller.texas.gov/taxes/property-
tax/reports/index.php, at Tab 9.1 for each year at issue. 

019

https://comptroller.texas.gov/taxes/property-tax/reports/index.php
https://comptroller.texas.gov/taxes/property-tax/reports/index.php


Page 2 of 12

past five years as “of the total number of protests filed in [the year], how many were for 
single-family residential property”.3   

Identifying sources of numbers and defining terms are necessary because “protest” is a 
term used informally in the property tax community to mean many different things.  For 
example, the Comptroller uses “Protest” as the heading for Tab 9 of its annual Opera-
tions Survey to include not only “protests to the ARB [that] were filed in [the year]” but 
also “informal process (that is, through meetings, teleconferences or online with ap-
praisal district staff) to resolve concerns, inquiries or protests filed in [the year]”.4  “Pro-
tests to the ARB [that] were filed in [the year]” may fairly readily be read to mean “notic-
es of protest” that are “filed” with “appraisal review boards” in the “tax year” as those 
terms are defined and used in the Code.5  By contrast, “informal process”, “concerns”, 
and “inquiries” are not defined by or used in the Code.  Like “meetings”, “telephone con-
ferences”, and online contacts, they are also not susceptible to routine and accurate 
counting and reporting.  While a particular appraisal district might devise informal pro-
cesses of its own for handling and recording all such contacts with property owners and 
their agents, the Code and the Comptroller do not provide any guidance on doing so.  
Therefore, individual appraisal districts’ reported numbers of such activities cannot be 
meaningfully compared to one another.   

The 208,000 listed as “Tot. Protests” on Exhibit 1 for Tarrant County for 2019 is TAD’s 
own rounded estimate for its own use that includes not only an estimate of the “how 
many protests to the ARB were filed in 2019” but also tens of thousands of issues that 
TAD and property owners or their agents resolved informally without a notice of protest 
being filed with Tarrant Appraisal Review Board.  Most of these informal resolutions 
were for accounts that professional property tax consultants “worked” with TAD staff be-
fore the statutory deadline for filing a notice of protest. 

The Committee heard testimony that the 208,000 entry on Exhibit 1 was gleaned from a 
report in the December 13, 2019 meeting of Tarrant Appraisal District Board of Direc-
tors.  In that meeting, I reported that TAD had handled 208,000 “protests” that year.  I 
used “protests” there as TAD and Tarrant Appraisal Review Board routinely use it as 
described in the preceding paragraph.  The 208,000 estimate is correct in its context as 
part of benchmark calculations by which TAD and Tarrant Appraisal Review Board mon-
itor their coordinated efforts each year toward approval of the appraisal records, certifi-
cation of the appraisal rolls, and subsequent additions to those records and rolls. 

Both the 208,000 number of total “protests” that I used colloquially in the December 13, 
2019 meeting and the 153,871 number of “how many protests to the ARB were filed in 

3 Comptroller, Property Tax Survey Data and Reports, “Operations Survey Data”, Additional Resources, 
https://comptroller.texas.gov/taxes/property-tax/reports/index.php, at Tab 9.1.1 for each year at issue. 

4  Comptroller, Property Tax Survey Data and Reports, “Operations Survey Data”, Additional Resources, 
https://comptroller.texas.gov/taxes/property-tax/reports/index.php, at Tabs 9, 9.7 – 9.10. 

5 Staff of the Comptroller say this is what Tab 9.1 means. 

020

https://comptroller.texas.gov/taxes/property-tax/reports/index.php
https://comptroller.texas.gov/taxes/property-tax/reports/index.php


Page 3 of 12

2019” that TAD reported to the Comptroller in response to the Operations Survey are 
correct in their respective contexts.  Through miscommunication or misunderstanding, 
208,000 was mistakenly provided to the Committee instead of 153,871.  

This report corrects that and other information that have led to misconceptions about 
protests in Tarrant County.  It uses the most up-to-date reports published by the Comp-
troller to make and analyze apples-to-apples comparisons of protest data for the five 
largest counties over the past five years.  The report also addresses the other requests 
made on behalf of the Committee. 

Key Findings: 

1) In each of the past four years the rates of protests in Tarrant County (num-
bers of notices of protests property owners filed with Tarrant Appraisal Re-
view Board as a percentage of total property accounts appraised by Tarrant
Appraisal District6) and the rates of orders determining protests in Tarrant
County (numbers of orders determining protest issued by Tarrant Appraisal
Review Board as a percentage of total property accounts appraised by Tar-
rant Appraisal District) have been in line with the corresponding rates in the
four other largest counties.  Those rates are in columns C and E, respectively,
in the two tables below.  Both rates in Tarrant County in 2016 through 2019
have been less than the corresponding rates in Travis and Harris Counties
and more than the rates in Dallas and Bexar Counties, as shown here in for
all categories of property7:

[continued on next page] 

6 In this report, Category G properties are not included in “total property accounts appraised by Tarrant 
Appraisal District” for the reasons explained in the next footnote. 

7 In this report “all categories of properties” is literally that for Bexar, Dallas, Harris, and Travis counties.  
Because Tarrant County has far more accounts for Category G properties (oil and gas, minerals, and 
other sub-surface interests) than those other counties, I have excluded Tarrant County’s Category G ac-
counts from the # ACCOUNTS entries in this report.  Omitting the hundreds of thousands of Category G 
accounts for Tarrant County while including the relatively few such accounts for the other counties raises 
substantially Tarrant County’s percentages of protest filed in columns C and the percentages of orders 
issued in columns E but provides a more fair and meaningful apples-to-apples comparison between Tar-
rant County and the other counties.    

021



Page 4 of 12

The same is true when we drill down to the largest single category of proper-
ty8, as shown here for single-family residential properties: 

[continued on next page] 

8 The largest single category of property in Tarrant County is Category G (oil and gas, minerals, and other 
sub-surface interests).  As explained in the preceding footnote, this report excludes accounts for Category 
G properties from # ACCOUNTS entries.  Doing so leaves Category A single-family residences as Tarrant 
County’s largest single category of property. 

022



Page 5 of 12

2) 2015 is the only one of the past five years in which Tarrant County’s rates of
protests in columns C and rates of orders determining protests in columns E
have not been in line with the corresponding rates for the four other largest
counties.  In 2015, the numbers of protests filed in Tarrant County was atypi-
cally low, both in comparison to past and subsequent years’ numbers in Tar-
rant County as shown in the first graphic below and in comparison to the four
other largest counties as shown in the second and third graphics below:

[continued on next page] 

023



Page 6 of 12 

 

 
 

 
 

 

024



Page 7 of 12 

 

The atypically low numbers of protests in 2015 coincided with and are be-
lieved to have been caused by atypically low appraised values that year.  The 
causes and corrections of those anomalies are addressed in Finding 4 below. 
 

3)  Whether you look at the increases in Tarrant County’s numbers and rates of 
protest in Columns B and C for 2016 through 2019 standing alone or com-
pared to the rates for the other four largest counties, there are no aberrations 
that suggest systemic and ongoing errors or disparities in TAD’s valuations.   

 
 Looking beyond Tarrant County’s protests statistics to its real estate market, 

we see that the increases in protests in 2016 through 2019 follow much the 
same upward trend as home sales prices.  For example, compare this chart in 
finding 2) above 

 

   
 
to the chart below of home sales prices in Tarrant County compiled by the 
Real Estate Center at Texas A&M University (Real Estate Center”)9 

                                                           
9  https://www.recenter.tamu.edu/about-us/about-the-center/.  “The Real Estate Center at Texas A&M 
University … is the nation's largest publicly funded organization devoted to real estate research. Most of 
our $5.1 million in annual funding comes from real estate license fees paid by more than 170,000 profes-
sionals. A nine-member advisory committee appointed by the governor provides research guidance and 
approves the budget.  The Center's staff conducts research on financial, socioeconomic, public policy, 
trade, legal, land use and local market analysis issues related to real estate.” 
 

025

https://www.recenter.tamu.edu/about-us/about-the-center/


Page 8 of 12 

 

 
Tarrant County 2011 - 2019 

                       

 
 

 Determining what causes property owners’ protests is beyond the scope of 
this report but correlations shown in these two charts suggest that, in 2016 
through 2019, rising real estate prices, rising property tax valuations, and ris-
ing property taxes are more likely the main drivers of rising protests numbers 
and rates than some unidentified systemic flaw in TAD’s valuation processes. 

 
 Home sales prices in Bexar, Dallas, and Travis Counties also follow much the 

same upward trends as their respective protest numbers in 2016 through 
2019.  Compare their numbers and rates of protests in the following chart:  

 
 

026



Page 9 of 12 

 

 
 
 to increases in their home sales prices for the same period shown in this 

chart10: 
 

 
 

 Other independent analyses also support the conclusion that TAD’s valua-
tions processes produced 2016 through 2019 values that increased in step 
with the real estate market in those years.  For example, the Comptroller’s 

                                                           
10 Compiled by TAD staff using Real Estate Center’s home sales data in Exhibit 2. 

027



Page 10 of 12 

 

Property Value Study (PVS) results during that period indicate that TAD’s ap-
praisal roll values hit at or very close to fair market values.  

  
 While the primary purpose for the PVS is to ensure equitable distribution of 

education funds to school districts, its secondary purpose is to collect data to 
provide taxpayers, school districts, appraisal districts and the Legislature with 
measures of appraisal district performance.  The bottom lines of TAD’s Final 
Property Value Study Results for both 2017 and 2019 are that TAD’s test val-
ues for properties in all school districts were “within confidence interval”.  In 
other words, based on the Comptroller’s independent sampling and appraisal 
of 14,149 properties in 2017,11 and 10,618 properties in 2019,12 the Comptrol-
ler concluded that TAD’s valuations across the county fell between 95% and 
105% of fair market value. 

 
4)  From discussion in the Committee’s February meeting it appears that some 

members saw the number of protests in Tarrant County in 2016 as a “spike” 
that indicates a systemic and ongoing problem with TAD’s operations.  There 
was a problem but it was with 2015 numbers being too low rather than 2016 
protest numbers being too high.   

 
The causes of the 2015 numbers being too low were peculiar to that year and 
were remedied before and during the 2016 appraisal cycle. 

 
As said and illustrated in Finding 2 above, the number of protests for ALL 
CATEGORIES OF PROPERTY and for CATEGORY A – SINGLE-FAMILY 
RESIDENTIAL PROPERTIES in 2015 were atypically low, both in comparison 
to past and subsequent years’ numbers in Tarrant County and in comparison 
to the four other largest counties.   
 
The Comptroller found TAD’s 2015 values to be atypically low – that is, below 
the market values determined by the Comptroller’s sample appraisals.  That 
resulted in TAD’s Final Property Value Study Results for 2015 being “outside 
confidence interval” for properties in most or all school districts for the first 
and only time in TAD’s history.13  
 
Just as I believe that rising property tax valuations and rising property taxes 
are most likely the main drivers of rising protests numbers, I believe that 
TAD’s overall values being more or less “flat” in 2015 is the most likely reason 
for the drop in the number of protests that year.   

 

                                                           
11  https://comptroller.texas.gov/data/property-tax/pvs/2017f/2200000001A.php (2017 PVS - final) 
 
12  https://comptroller.texas.gov/auto-data/PT2/PVS/2019F/2200000001A.php (2019 PVS - final) 
 
13  https://comptroller.texas.gov/data/property-tax/pvs/2015f/2200000001A.php (2015 PVS - final) 
 

028

https://comptroller.texas.gov/data/property-tax/pvs/2017f/2200000001A.php
https://comptroller.texas.gov/auto-data/PT2/PVS/2019F/2200000001A.php
https://comptroller.texas.gov/data/property-tax/pvs/2015f/2200000001A.php


Page 11 of 12 

 

The main reason for TAD’s overall values remaining “flat” in 2015 – not keep-
ing up with the rising real estate market -- was our temporarily suspending 
deed entry while “going live” to our new computer assisted mass appraisal 
(CAMA) system14.  “Deed entry” is TAD’s process of changing its appraisal 
records listings of ownerships and property descriptions to reflect changes 
that come to us in deeds and plats filed with the County Clerk.15  In our then-
new CAMA system, new sales price data could not be entered until such 
ownership and property description changes were made.  Consequently, dur-
ing the three-month suspension of deed entry, current sales prices were not 
entered and could not be readily used so TAD’s appraisers had to rely on da-
ta in the legacy software system for sales in 2014 and earlier.  Resumption of 
deed entry and completion of the go-live process brought up to date TAD’s 
CAMA database entries for ownership, property description, and sales data.            

 
 The Comptroller’s follow-up PVS in 2016 concluded that TAD’s values had 

risen to “within confidence interval”.16  In other words, based on the Comptrol-
ler’s independent sampling and appraisal, TAD’s 2016 test values were again 
within 95% and 105% of fair market value. 

 
5) Senator Nelson also asked about “troubles with software that were cited in a 

recent audit”.  I assume that she refers to the Aumentum Independent Verifi-
cation and Validation Procedures:  Results that Weaver & Tidwell, L.L.P. 
(“Weaver”) provided to the Tarrant Appraisal District Board of Directors in De-
cember 2016.  That retrospective report addressed a variety of process and 
product deficiencies.  In response to and in most cases, prior to Weaver de-
livering its final report, TAD took action to formally initiate solutions, including 
vigorous diagnostic and remedial measures to correct issues associated with 
implementation and first year operation of the CAMA system.  Those efforts 
were largely successful as indicated, for example, by TAD’s producing ap-
praisal values found by PVS to have stabilized “within confidence interval” for 
2016 and all subsequent years.  As was to be expected with a move from a 
30+ year old legacy system, some issues remained and were addressed.     

 
 TAD continues to engage with its vendor and external and internal stakehold-

ers to improve and extend software functionality and to cure any functional 
and technical defects as they are identified. 

 

                                                           
14 TAD converted from its 30+ year old legacy system in 2013-2014.  Go-live was in October 2014. 
  
15 TAD typically receives about 8,000 such transaction per month. 
 
16 https://comptroller.texas.gov/data/property-tax/pvs/2016f/2202209191F.php (2016 PVS - final) 
 

029

https://comptroller.texas.gov/data/property-tax/pvs/2016f/2202209191F.php


Page 12 of 12

6) Senator Nelson also welcomed suggestions for statutory changes.  TAD ac-
tively participates in and supports the Texas Association of Appraisal Districts
(“TAAD”)17 and its legislative priorities set out in Exhibit 3.

Jeff Law, Executive Director/Chief Appraiser 
Tarrant Appraisal District 

17 TAD’s ongoing involvement and support includes Jeff Craig, TAD’s Director of Administration, currently 
serving as President and Jeff Law, TAD’s Executive Director/Chief Appraiser, currently serving on the 
Legislative Committee.  

030



EXHIBIT 1 

031



EXHIBIT 2 – Page 1 of 5 

032



EXHIBIT 2 – Page 2 of 5 

033



 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 2 – Page 3 of 5 

034



EXHIBIT 2 – Page 4 of 5 

035



EXHIBIT 2 – Page 5 of 5 

036



EXHIBIT 3

037



0 

November 6, 2020 

Ref: Ad Valorem Protest Review Services Request for Qualifications 

Dear Respondent:  

The Tarrant Appraisal District (TAD) will require the services of an individual/firm to provide the 

referenced services. Enclosed is a copy of the Request for Qualifications.  

If you wish to respond to this RFQ, please provide TAD with the following: 

A) ONE (1) MANUALLY SIGNED ORIGINAL.  Two (2) HARD COPIES AND ONE (1) EXACT COPY ON USB

DRIVES (in .pdf format excluding your financials) of your response, unless additional copies are

otherwise requested in the Request for Qualifications, specifically stating your interest and any

other specific information or statements called for in the enclosed Request for Qualifications.

B) Complete information about your firm and staff qualifications.

C) A list of projects which indicate specific background and experience in the program area being

considered.

D) A list of proposed rates, fees or charges, and other detailed cost proposal or cost breakdown

information.

Any questions regarding this RFQ should be submitted via email ONLY to Jeff Craig at: JCraig@TAD.org 

no later than 5 PM Friday, November 20, 2020. The answers to the questions received will be 

distributed in the form of an addendum shortly thereafter.  

If any addenda are issued to this RFQ, a good faith attempt will be made to deliver a copy to each of 

those Respondents who, according to the records of TAD, has requested a copy of this RFQ and will be 

posted on TAD’s website www.tad.org/about/procurement/.  However, prior to submitting a response, 

it is the responsibility of the Respondent to contact the Tarrant Appraisal District as JCraig@TAD.org to 

determine if addenda were issued and, if so, to obtain such addenda for attachment to their response.  

Your response must be received no later than 2 PM Tuesday, December 1, 2020, and directed to: 

Tarrant Appraisal District – Ad Valorem Protest Review Services RFQ 
Attn: Jeff Craig, Director of Administration 

2500 Handley-Ederville Rd 
Fort Worth, TX 76118 

Your package/response must be date and time stamped upon receipt. If it “appears” in our offices after 
the deadline and there is no date/time stamp, it will be rejected.  

Yours Very Truly, 

    Jeff Craig 

038

mailto:mcastle@mcad-tx.org
mailto:mcastle@mcad-tx.org


1 

Request for Qualifications 

Ad Valorem Protest Review Services 

November 6, 2020 

Tarrant Appraisal District  
2500 Handley-Ederville Rd 

Fort Worth, TX 76118 

Responses Due By or Before 2:00 p.m., 12/1/2020 

039



2 

REQUEST FOR QUALIFICATIONS 
Ad Valorem Protest Review Services 

SECTION 1 
Specific Information Regarding this RFQ 

1.1 Introduction 

The Tarrant Appraisal District (“TAD”) seeks responses from qualified Respondents interested in 
providing the services as described in Section 1.2 of this RFQ. 

TAD is responsible for appraising all real and business personal property within Tarrant County 
according to the requirements of the Texas Property Tax Code (“Code”) and the Uniform 
Standards of Professional Appraisal Practices (“USPAP”).   TAD seeks assistance in examining 
statistics for one aspect of the operations of the five largest appraisal districts in Texas and the 
appraisal review boards for each of them. 

1.2 Scope of Services 

Tarrant Appraisal District invites responses from candidates in the private sector who are qualified to 
perform the work described below.  In summary, the work to be performed is objectively quantifying 
and comparing certain aspects of property tax operations in the five largest appraisal districts in Texas 
and the appraisal review boards for each of them for the past five years: 

APPRAISAL DISTRICTS FOR THESE COUNTIES 
o Bexar

o Dallas

o Harris

o Tarrant

o Travis

 TAX YEARS

o 2015

o 2016

o 2017

o 2018

o 2019

WORK TO BE PERFORMED 

1) For each appraisal district and the appraisal review board for each of them, collect the following
statistics for each tax year:

a. total  number of notices of protest that property owners (directly or through designated
agents) filed with the appraisal review board for all combined categories of property
appraised by the appraisal district;

b. total  number of notices of protest that property owners (directly or through designated
agents) filed with the appraisal review board for the largest single category of property

040



3 

(other than oil, gas, minerals, and other sub-surface interests) appraised by the 
appraisal district; 

c. total number of orders determining protest issued by each appraisal review board for all
combined categories of property appraised by the appraisal district;

d. total number of orders determining protest issued by each appraisal review board for
the largest single category of property (other than oil, gas, minerals, and other sub-
surface interests) appraised by the appraisal district;

e. total number of parcels/accounts appraised by the appraisal district for all combined
categories of property appraised by the appraisal district; and

f. total number of parcels/accounts appraised by the appraisal district for the largest
single category of property (other than oil, gas, minerals, and other sub-surface
interests) appraised by the appraisal district.

2) For each appraisal district and the appraisal review board for each of them, compute the
following comparisons for each tax year:

a. total  number of notices of protest that property owners (directly or through designated
agents) filed with the appraisal review board for all combined categories of property
appraised by the appraisal district compared to total number of parcels/accounts
appraised by the appraisal district for all combined categories of property appraised by
the appraisal district;

b. total number of orders determining protest issued by each appraisal review board for all
combined categories of property appraised by the appraisal district compared to total
number of parcels/accounts appraised by the appraisal district for all combined
categories of property appraised by the appraisal district;

c. total number of orders determining protest issued by each appraisal review board for all
combined categories of property appraised by the appraisal district compared to total
number of notices of protest that property owners (directly or through designated
agents) filed with the appraisal review board for all combined categories of property
appraised by the appraisal district;

d. total  number of notices of protest that property owners (directly or through designated
agents) filed with the appraisal review board for the largest single category of property
(other than oil, gas, minerals, and other sub-surface interests) appraised by the
appraisal district compared to total number of parcels/accounts appraised by the
appraisal district for the largest single category of property (other than oil, gas, minerals,
and other sub-surface interests) appraised by the appraisal district;

e. total number of orders determining protest issued by each appraisal review board for
the largest single category of property (other than oil, gas, minerals, and other sub-
surface interests) appraised by the appraisal district compared to total number of
parcels/accounts appraised by the appraisal district for the largest single category of
property (other than oil, gas, minerals, and other sub-surface interests) appraised by the
appraisal district;

f. total number of orders determining protest issued by each appraisal review board for
the largest single category of property (other than oil, gas, minerals, and other sub-
surface interests) appraised by the appraisal district compared to total  number of
notices of protest that property owners (directly or through designated agents) filed
with the appraisal review board for the largest single category of property (other than
oil, gas, minerals, and other sub-surface interests) appraised by the appraisal district;
and

041



4 

g. other comparisons that TAD may identify as being necessary or helpful to identify and
analyze significant similarities, differences, changes, and trends, among the five
appraisal districts over tax years 2015 through 2019, in the volume and rates of
parcels/accounts appraised, notices of protest filed’ and orders determining protest
issued.

3) Analyze the resulting statistics and comparisons.

4) Compile the resulting statistics and comparisons in charts, graphs, and text to illustrate
significant similarities, differences, changes, and trends -- among the five appraisal districts over
tax years 2015 through 2019 -- in volume and rates of parcels/accounts appraised, notices of
protest filed, and orders determining protest issued and your analysis of those significant
similarities, differences, changes, and trends.

DEFINITIONS AND INSTRUCTIONS 

1) “Tax year”, “appraisal district”, “appraisal review board”, “notice of protest”, and “order
[determining protest]” have the meanings provided in Sections 1.04 (13), 6.01, 6.41, 41.44, and
41.47, respectively, of the Texas Property Tax Code.

2) “Parcel” has the meaning with which it is used in Chapter 25 and elsewhere in the Code to refer
to a discrete item of property that is listed in the appraisal records and appraisal rolls of an
appraisal district.  TAD and other appraisal districts routinely use “parcel” and the colloquial
term “account” interchangeably.  As used here the terms are synonymous.

3) As used here, “notice of protest” refers to the combination of all grounds of protest related to a
single parcel/account for a given tax year.  In other words, the multiple grounds of protest are
not counted separately.  On the other hand, in a single document protesting multiple
parcels/accounts, concerns about each parcel/account are to be counted as a single notice of
protest for each tax year about which the notice applies.

4) “Category” refers to the categorization of property for property tax purposes that is published
by the Comptroller of Public Accounts of the State of Texas.

5) Numbers of parcels/accounts appraised, notices of protest filed, and orders determining
protests issued must be collected from sources that are the kind that administrators, appraisers
and other professionals in the property tax appraisal field would reasonably rely on.  Sources
must be fully and accurately cited.

6) Attached for your further information is the document that initially sparked TAD’s interest in
looking closer at and doing more detailed work with the data elements specified above.

1.3 Term of Agreement 
The initial term of agreement will commence upon execution of the Contract with a 
written purchase order. The length will be determined upon analysis of responses. 
The Contract is subject to early termination as set forth elsewhere in this RFQ. 

042



5 

1.4 Minimum Requirements for Respondents 
Individual/Firm must satisfy the following mandatory minimum requirements in order to have 
their responses evaluated. By submitting a response, warrant and represents that it satisfies 
these requirements. Failure to meet these requirements will result in the response not being 
evaluated and being rejected as non-responsive:  

Respondent must have at least three (3) years of experience in the areas of work 
requested to be provided in this section and provide a minimum of three (3) 
references, where Respondent has provided similar services. The preference is that 
the references be from Texas County clients. TAD reserves the right to contact all 
references provided and any other known customers.  

1.5 Documents Available for Inspection (if applicable) 
TBD 

1.6 Pre-Proposal Meeting 
There is not a pre-proposal meeting scheduled for this RFQ. 

1.7 Response Due Date 
The deadline for submitting responses to this RFQ is Tuesday December 1, 2020 at 2:00 pm. 
Please see Section 2.3 for more details.  

1.8 Response Delivery Location 
Responses must be delivered to the following location: 

Tarrant Appraisal District – Ad Valorem Protest Review Services RFQ 
Attn: Jeff Craig, Director of Administration 
2500 Handley-Ederville Rd. 
Fort Worth, TX 76118 

1.9 Response Opening.  
All Responses received shall be publicly announced and recorded at 2:00 PM on the Response 
Due Date at the Response Delivery Location (See Section 1.7 and 1.8 above).  Only the name of 
the company or individual submitting a response will be read.  Due to the Covid-19 pandemic, 
safety protocols may not allow respondents to be physically present for the opening of bids.  If 
practical, a method to attend virtually will devised and all timely respondents will be notified of 
how to access. 

1.10 Contact Person 
Buyer’s Contact Person for this RFQ is: 
Jeff Craig,  Please refer to Section 2.7 for further information 

Director of Administration  on who may and may not be contacted 
 JCraig@TAD.org regarding this RFQ.  

1.11 Questions and Requests for Amendments 
Any questions, requests for information, or requests for amendments to this RFQ must be 
submitted via email ONLY to Jeff Craig at JCraig@TAD.org no later than 5:00 pm, Friday, 
November 20, 2020 in accordance with Section 2.1 of this RFQ.  

043

mailto:mcastle@mcad-tx.org
mailto:mcastle@mcad-tx.org


6 
 

Section 2 
General Instructions 

 
2.1 Questions and Requests for Amendment to RFQ 
 If a Respondent (I) has questions about the RFQ, (II) finds discrepancies, omissions, or 
ambiguities in the RFQ, or (III) believes any term or condition of the RFQ in unreasonable, Respondent 
should request an amendment to the RFQ. The request should reference the RFQ section at issue and 
include any specific language that Respondent recommends using.  
 All requests for amendment must be submitted to the Contact Person in writing (via email) and, 
unless otherwise specified in Section 1.10 of the RFQ, be received by the Contact Person at least ten (10) 
calendar days before the Response Due Date. Questions and requests for amendments directed to the 
Contact Person shall not constitute a formal protest of the RFQ. Failure to request an interpretation or 
change will be considered evidence that Respondent understands and agrees to the provisions of the 
RFQ.  
 The posting of a written amendment (www.tad.org) is the only official method by which 
interpretations, clarifications, changes, or additional information will be given by TAD prior to the 
opening of Responses. Any other interpretation, clarification, change, or information will have no legal 
effect.  
 TAD reserves the right to amend, cancel, or reissue the RFQ at its discretion. This included the 
right to change the Response Due Date and the Contract award date.  
 
2.2 Format/Content of Responses 

A. If a Response Format is specified in the RFQ, Respondents should follow that format in 
Attachment A.  

B.  Responses should be prepared simply and economically, providing a straight forward, concise 
description of Respondent’s ability to provide services sought by the RFQ. Bindings and covers 
will be Respondent’s discretion.  

C. When responding to specific questions, please reprint each question in its entirety before the 
response.  

D. All corrections must be initialed.  
E. Responses shall be limited to a page size of 8 1/2” x 11”. Font size less than 11-point is 

discouraged. The Response shall be indexed and all pages sequentially numbered.  
F. Except as may be specifically requested in the Response Format, Respondent may not impose 

any additional terms or conditions to any aspect of the RFQ. TAD objects to and shall not be 
required to consider any additional terms or conditions submitted by Respondent, including any 
appearing in the Response. In submitting a Response, Respondent agrees that any additional 
terms or conditions shall have no force or effect. Any failure to comply with the terms and 
conditions of the RFQ, including those specifying information that must be submitted with a 
Response, may result in rejection of the Response.  Respondent must follow the process set 
forth in Section 2.1 (“Questions and Request for Amendments”).  

G. Price of offerings shall be inclusive of ALL (not to exceed) costs (including but not limited to 
administrative cost for submission of all required paperwork on TAD’s behalf and any other 
costs) and will be the only compensation given to Respondent for the required services herein.  

H. All prices submitted under the RFQ shall be indelible. Corrections must be by lineout of the 
incorrect figures, writing in of correct figures, and initialing of the corrections by the originator. 
Erasure of corrected bids will be considered non-responsive for the corrected item(s) only, and 
may render the entire Response as nonresponsive.  

044



7 
 

I. Failure to sign any form requiring a signature may be grounds for rejecting a Response.  
 

2.3 Submission of Responses 
A. The location and deadline for submitting Responses is set forth in Section 1 of the RFQ. 

Respondents are fully responsible for meeting these requirements. Reliance upon mail or public 
carrier is at Respondent’s risk. Late responses will not be considered.  

B. Respondent shall submit:  
a. One (1) original signed version of its Response clearly marked as “Original”. The 

Response must be signed by an officer or employee having legal authority to legally bind 
Respondent.  

b. Two (2) hard copy of the entire Response.  
c. One (1) scanned copy (in .pdf format) of entire Response on a USB Drive; large files may 

be scanned as several separate .pdf files.  
All copies are to be placed in a sealed package. The outside must be marked with (1) the RFQ 
Title, and (2) Respondent’s name, address, contact person, and telephone number.  
 
It is the sole responsibility of each Respondent to assure all copies are EXACT duplicates of the 
original Response.  

 
2.4 Evaluation of Responses 

A. TAD will determine the qualifications, interest, and availability of Respondent s by reviewing all 
Responses and, when deemed necessary in the sole discretion of Buyer, by conducting formal 
interviews of selected Respondent s that are determined to the best qualified based upon 
evaluations of the Response.  

B. The determination of which Respondent s are “best qualified” will be based upon the criteria set 
forth in the RFQ.  

C. Before making an award, Buyer reserves the right to seek clarifications, revisions, and 
information it deems necessary for the proper evaluation of Responses. Failure to provide any 
requested clarification, revisions, or information may result in rejection of the Response.  

D. Buyer reserves the right to accept or reject any and all Responses, or separable portions, 
thereof, and to waive any minor irregularity, technicality, or omission if Buyer determines that 
doing so will serve Buyer’s best interest. Buyer may reject any Response not submitted in the 
manner specified by the RFQ.  

 
2.5 Negotiation and Award of Contract 

A. Generally, Buyer will negotiate first with the highest ranked Respondent. If an agreement 
cannot be reached with the highest ranked Respondent, Buyer reserves the right to negotiate 
and recommend award to the next highest ranked Respondent or subsequent Respondent (s) 
until an agreement is reached.  

B. Buyer may make an award within ninety (90) days after the date of the Response s are due, 
during which period the Response s shall remain firm and shall not be withdrawn. Any Response 
s that expresses a shorter duration may, in Buyer’s sole discretion, be accepted or rejected. If 
award is not made within ninety (90) days, the Response shall remain firm until either the 
Contract is awarded or the Buyer received from Respondent written notice that the Response is 
withdrawn. Buyer will not accept an amended Response after the date and time Response s are 
due.  

045



8 

C. Except as may otherwise be expressly set forth in the RFQ, Buyer intends to award one contract,
but reserves the right to enter into a contract with multiple Respondent s or to reject all
Response s.

2.6 Terms of Agreement 
After award to the successful Respondent, Buyer and Respondent will enter into a written 

agreement (the “Contract”) incorporating the terms of the RFQ, the successful Response, and the other 
terms and conditions as may be agreed to between the parties. To the extent the Response contains 
exceptions to or modifications of the RFQ, such exceptions or modifications are stricken unless Buyer 
affirmatively accepts the exceptions or modifications in the Contract. Buyer will not be obligated to pay 
Respondent for the RFQ services until the Contract is signed by both parties and payment will be made 
per the specific terms of the final agreement. Buyer retains the right to reject all bids and/or amend its 
notice of award at any time prior to the full execution of the Contract. 

If the successful Respondent fails to perform the Services as agreed, Buyer reserves the right to 
(1) issue a new solicitation for the Services; (2) reopen the RFQ for the purpose of negotiating and
awarding a second contract to another Respondent in accordance with the criteria and processes set
forth herein; and/or (iii) take such other actions permitted by law.

2.7 Ex-Parte Communications 
Communications regarding the RFQ  by a potential respondent, service provider, bidder, 

lobbyist, or consultant to an employee or official of a tax unit in Tarrant County or TAD staff or Board of 
Directors are prohibited. 

These prohibitions on ex-parte communications do not apply to the following: 

 Communications regarding the RFQ to the Director of Administration provided the
communication is limited strictly to matters of process or procedure already contained
in the RFQ.

The period for these prohibitions commences upon the advertisement of the RFQ and 
terminates after the contract is signed 

2.8 Cost of Developing RFQ  Responses 
All costs related to the preparation of Responses and any related activates are the sole 

responsibility of Respondent. Buyer assumes no liability for any costs incurred by Respondent s 
throughout the entire selection process.  

2.9 Response Ownership 
All Response s, including attachments, supplementary materials, addenda, etc., shall become 

property of Buyer and shall not be returned to Respondent. Buyer will have the right to use any and all 
ideas or adaptation of ideas presented in any Response. Acceptance or rejection of a Response shall not 
affect this right.  

2.10 Respondent Representations 
In submitting a Response, Respondent understands, represents, and acknowledges the following 

(if Respondent cannot so certify to any of the following, Respondent shall submit with its Response a 
written explanation of why it cannot do so).  

046



9 
 

 The Response is submitted in good faith and without any prior or future consultation or 
agreement with any other respondent or potential respondent;  

 To the best of the knowledge of the person signing the Response, neither this 
Respondent, its affiliates, subsidiaries, owners, parties, principals or officers:  

o Is currently under investigation by any governmental authority for conspiracy or 
collusions with respect to bidding on any public contract;  

o Is currently under suspension or debarment by any governmental authority in 
the United States; 

 Respondent has read and understands the RFQ terms and conditions, and the Response 
is submitted in conformance with those terms and conditions.  

 All representations made by Respondent to Buyer in connection with the RFQ have been 
made after a diligent inquiry of its employees and agents responsible for preparing, 
approving, or submitting the Response.  

 Respondent shall indemnify, defend, and hold harmless Buyer and its employees against 
any cost, damage, or expense which may be incurred or be caused by any error in the 
Response.  

 All information provided by, and representations made by, Respondent are material and 
important and may be relied upon by Buyer in awarding the Contract.  

  

047



10 

Section 3 
General Terms and Conditions of Agreement 

These terms and conditions are, by reference, incorporated into and made a part of the Tarrant 
Appraisal District (TAD) November  6, 2020 “Ad Valorem  Protest Review Services” Request For 
Qualifications” (RFQ) and any and all subsequent contract awards and purchase orders. 

3.1 Late RFQ Submissions 
RFQ’s received by the TAD after the submission deadline will be considered void and 

unacceptable and will be returned to the Respondent unopened. The TAD is not responsible for lateness 
or non-delivery of mail, carrier, etc. 

3.2 Altering RFQ Submissions 
RFQ’s cannot be altered or amended after the submission deadline.  Any interlineations, 

alteration, or erasure made before opening must be initialed by the signer of the RFQ guaranteeing 
authenticity. 

3.3 Withdrawal of RFQ 
RFQ submissions may not be withdrawn or cancelled by the individual/firm without the TAD’s 

permission for a period of ninety (90) days following the date designated for the receipt of RFQ 
submissions and the individual/firm so agrees upon submittal of its RFQ submittal. 

3.4 Funding 
Funds for payment have been provided through the TAD budget approved by its Board of 

Directors for this fiscal year only. Texas state statutes prohibit the obligation and expenditure of public 
funds beyond the fiscal year for which a budget has been approved.  Therefore, anticipated orders or 
other obligations that may arise after the end of the current fiscal year shall be subject to budget 
approval. 

3.5 Sales Tax 
The TAD is exempt from payment of Texas sales tax and federal excise tax. 

3.6 Contract 
This RFQ, when properly accepted or approved by the TAD, will constitute a contract equally 

binding between the successful individual/firm and the TAD. No different or additional terms will 
become a part of this contract except upon written changes agreed upon by the parties. 

3.7 Independent Contractor Status 
The selected individual/firm acknowledges that it is an independent contractor, and, as such, 

understands that the TAD is not liable to the selected individual/firm for any benefits or coverages as 
provided by the workers’ compensation and/or unemployment compensation laws of the State of Texas 
and that anyone employed by the selected individual/firm shall not be considered an employee of the 
TAD for purposes of workers’ compensation and/or unemployment compensation coverage. 
Furthermore, the selected individual/firm declares, as an independent contractor, that it has been and 
will be free from any control or direction by the TAD over its performance of the services and provision 
of the work products covered by this contract. 

048



11 

3.8 Changes 
No oral statement of any person shall modify or otherwise change or affect the terms, 

conditions, or requirements stated in the resulting contract.  All changes to this contract shall be made 
in writing as agreed upon by the parties. 

3.9 Ethics 
The respondent shall not offer or accept gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business 

arrangement with any employee, official, or agent of the TAD. 

3.10 Lawful Compliance 
The selected individual/firm must comply with all relevant federal, state, county and local laws 

in the performance of the services and provision of the products provided herewith. 

3.11 TAD Indemnification 
The selected individual/firm shall defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the TAD and all of its 

officers, agents, and employees from all suits, actions, or other claims of any character, name, or 
description brought for or on account of any injuries or damages received or sustained by any person, 
persons, or property on account of any negligent act or fault of the selected individual/firm, and/or any 
of the selected individual/firm’s agents, employees, subcontractors, or suppliers in the execution of, or 
performance under, any contract award and/or purchase order. The selected individual/firm indemnifies 
and will indemnify and save harmless the TAD from liability, claim, or demand on its part and its agents, 
servants, customers, and/or employees whether such liability, claim, or demand arise from event or 
casualty happening on or within the TAD premises themselves or happening upon or in any halls, 
entrances, stairways, driveways, parking areas, or approaches of or to the TAD property.  The selected 
individual/firm shall pay any judgment with costs which may be obtained against the TAD growing out of 
any such injury or damages. 

3.12 Wages 
The selected individual/firm shall pay or cause to be paid, without cost or expense to the TAD, 

all such wages and benefits to its employees as required by state and federal law. 

3.13 Payment 
Payment to Respondent for Services shall be made on a mutually agreed upon method.   

Payment to the selected individual/firm shall be made subsequent to the TAD’s receipt and acceptance 
of the specified work products and within 30 days following the TAD receipt of an accurate invoice for 
same. Periodic progress payments may be made, subject to verifiable evidence or documentation that 
indicated work and progress have actually occurred and that such payment is warranted. Any such 
progress payments may be subject to withholding 10% retainage, with accumulated retainage amounts 
being paid upon the TAD receipt and acceptance of all specified work products for a particular tax year. 
Payment for authorized as-needed lawsuit-related services shall be made within 30 days of TAD receipt 
of accurate invoices for same.  

3.14 Termination of Contract 
The TAD reserves the right to enforce the performance of this contract in any manner 

prescribed by law or deemed to be in the best interest of the TAD in the event of breach or default of 
this contract.  In the event the selected individual/firm shall fail to perform, keep, or observe any of the 
requirements, terms or conditions of this contract, the TAD may give the selected individual/firm 
written notice of such default and, if same is not remedied to the satisfaction and approval of the TAD 

049



12 

within two (2) working days of receipt of such notice, default may be declared and all the selected 
individual/firm’s rights shall terminate. 

3.15 Assignment 
The selected individual/firm shall not assign, transfer, sell, or convey this contract, in whole or in 

part, without the prior written consent of the TAD. 

3.16 Venue 
This contract will be governed and construed according to the laws of the State of Texas and is 

performable in Tarrant County, Texas. 

3.17 Silence of Specifications 
The apparent silence of the RFQ (including these terms and conditions and the cost submission 

form) as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a detailed description concerning any point, 
shall be regarded as meaning that only the best commercial practices are to prevail. All interpretations 
of the RFQ shall be made on the basis of this statement. 

3.18 Provision of Services 
Respondent shall provide Buyer with all of the services and deliverables described in the RFQ, 

the Response and the resulting Contract (collectively, the ‘Services”). If any services, functions or 
responsibilities are not specifically described in the RFQ, the Response or the resulting Contract but are 
necessary for the proper performance and provision of the Services, they shall be deemed to be implied 
by and included within the scope of the Services to the same extent and in the same manner as if 
specifically described herein.  

3.19 Buyer’s Right to Make Changes 
Buyer may unilaterally require, by written order, changes altering, adding to, or deducting from 

the Services (“Changes”), provided that such Changes are within the general scope of the Contract. 
Buyer will make an equitable adjustment in the Contract price or the delivery date if the Change 
materially affects the cost or time of performance. Such equitable adjustments require the written 
consent of Respondent, which shall not be unreasonably withheld. The Parties will cooperate with each 
other in good faith in discussing the scope and nature of the Change, the availability of Respondent 
personnel, the expertise and resources to provide such Change, and the time period in which such 
Change will be implemented.  

3.20 Service Warranties 
Respondent warrants that the Services shall be performed and delivered in a professional, first-

class manner in accordance with the Contract and the standards prevailing in the industry. Respondent 
shall also undertake the following actions without additional consideration during the term of the 
Contract and for one year thereafter: (1) promptly making necessary revisions or corrections to resolve 
any errors and omissions on the part of Respondent; and (ii) conferring with Buyer for the purpose of 
interpreting any of the Services or information furnished. Acceptance of the Services by Buyer shall not 
relieve Respondent of these responsibilities. The warranties and covenants in this paragraph will extend 
to all subcontractors as well.  

3.21 Buyer Will Assist Respondent 
At Respondent’s request, Buyer will provide reasonable assistance and cooperation to 

Respondent, including the supply of any data and information necessary for Respondent to provide the 

050



13 

Services. Buyer will also designate a person(s) who will, on behalf of Buyer, work with Respondent and 
administer the Contract in accordance with its terms.  

3.22 Location Requirements for Services 
Unless otherwise stated in the RFQ on the Response, all of the Services must beperformed 

within the United States.  

3.23 Use of Subcontractors: Flow –Down Provisions 
Except to the extent the use of subcontractors is disclosed in the Response or consented to in 

writing by Buyer, Respondent shall not be allowed to subcontract or assign any of its duties and 
obligations hereunder. In all cases, Respondent will be responsible for the acts or omissions of its 
subcontractors. Respondent will ensure that all relevant contractual obligations will flow down to the 
subcontractors and will be incorporated into the subcontracts. 

3.24 Meetings and Reports 
Respondent must attend all meetings and public hearings relative to the Service where its 

presence is determined to be necessary and requested by Buyer and Respondent can reasonably 
schedule its appearance.  

3.25 Loss of Data 
If any Buyer data or record is lost or corrupted due to the negligence of Respondent or any of its 

subcontractors or agents, Respondent shall be responsible for correcting and recreating all production, 
test, acceptance, and training files or databases affected which are used in the provision of services, at 
no additional cost to the Customer in the manner and on the schedule set by Buyer. This remedy shall 
be in addition to any other remedy Buyer may be entitled to by law or the Contract.  

3.26 Best Pricing for Comparable Services to Other Government Entities 
Compensation for the Services shall be as set forth in the Contract. During the Contract term, if 

Respondent offers better pricing to other government entities for substantially the same or a smaller 
quantity of Services upon the same or similar terms of the Contract (“Better Pricing”), then the price 
under the Contract shall be immediately reduced to the better price. Buyer may require Respondent to 
certify on an annual basis that Better Pricing (as defined above) does not exist.  

3.27 Buyer’s Right to Suspend Work 
Buyer may in its sole discretion suspend any or all activities under the Contract by providing a 

written notice to Respondent at least five (5) days in advance that outlines the particulars of suspension. 
Within ninety (90) days of providing such notice, or within any longer period agreed to by Respondent, 
Buyer shall either (1) authorize the resumption of work, at which time activity shall resume, or (2) 
terminate the contract in accordance with the applicable termination provisions. Suspension of work 
shall not entitle Respondent to any additional compensation. The parties will reasonably amend any 
schedules relating to performance of the Services to reflect the suspension of work hereunder. 
Respondent shall not be entitled to receive compensation for any work it performs after being excused 
from providing it hereunder.  

3.28 Buyer’s Remedies upon Respondent Default 
Any one or more of the following events, if not cured within ten (10) calendar days after 

Respondent’s receipt of written notice thereof, shall constitute an “Event of Default” on the part of the 
Respondent: (1) Respondent fails to perform the Services within the time specified in the Contract or 

051



14 

any extension, (2) Respondent fails to maintain adequate progress, thus endangering performance of 
the Contract, (3) Respondent fails to honor any other material term of the Contract, or (4) Respondent 
fails to abide by any statutory, regulatory, or licensing requirement. Buyer may extend the 10-day cure 
period in its discretion.  

In addition, the following shall constitute an immediate Event of Default with no right cure: (I) 
Respondent is found to have made a false representation.  

Upon an “Event of Default” on the part of Respondent, Buyer will be entitled to terminate the 
Contract and pursue such other remedies available at law or equity, including the recovery of any re-
procurement costs and delay damages. The rights and remedies available to Buyer under the Contract 
are distinct, separate, and cumulative remedies, and no one of them, whether or not exercised by a 
party, shall be deemed to be in exclusion of any other.  

If, after termination, it is determined that Respondent was not in default, or that the default was 
excusable, the rights and obligations of the parties shall be the same as if the termination had been 
issued of the convenience.  

3.29 Transition Services 
At any time prior to the date the Contract expires or terminates for any reason (the 

“Termination Date”), Buyer may request Respondent to provide reasonable transition assistance 
services (“Transition Assistant”). Respondent shall provide such Transition Assistance until such time as 
Buyer notifies Respondent that Buyer no longer requires such Transition Assistance, but in no event for 
more than 190 days following the Termination Date.  

Transition Assistance shall mean any services, functions, or responsibilities that are ordinarily or 
customarily provided to a purchaser to ensure that the services provided to that purchaser by a 
contractor are fully transitioned in a smooth and efficient manner to a new service provider (either 
Buyer itself or a third party contractor). Transition Assistance includes the development and 
implementation or a detailed transition plan. To the extent that Transition Assistance will involve third 
parties hired by Buyer, those third parties shall cooperate with Respondent in its provisions of Transition 
Assistance and sign any reasonable non-disclosure agreements required by Respondent.  

Transition Assistance rendered before the Termination Date shall be provided at no additional 
cost to Buyer. Transition Assistance rendered after the Termination Date shall be provided at the rates 
negotiated by the parties prior to the rendering of such services, which rates shall not exceed the 
standard market rates that Respondent charges to government entities for comparable services; 
provided however, that if Buyer terminates the Contract because of a breach by Respondent, then (I) 
the Transition Assistance shall be provided at no cost to Buyer, and (ii) Buyer will be entitled to any 
other remedies available to it under law. Respondent may withhold Transition Assistance after the 
Termination Date if Buyer does not provide reasonable assurance that the charges for such Transition 
Assistance will be paid to Respondent in accordance with the invoicing and payment provisions of the 
Contract.  

3.30 Force Majeure, Notice of Delay, and No Damages for Delay 
Neither party shall be responsible for delays in performance if the delay was beyond that party’s 

control (or the control of its employees, subcontractors, or agents). Respondent shall notify Buyer in 
writing of any such delay or potential delay and describe the cause of the delay either (1) within ten (10) 
calendar days after the cause that creates or will create the delay first arose, if Respondent could 
reasonably foresee that a delay could occur as a result, or (2) if delay is not reasonable foreseeable, 
within five (5) calendar days after the date Respondent first had reason to believe that a delay could 
result. Based upon such notice, Buyer will give Respondent a reasonable extension of time to perform; 
provided, however, that Buyer may elect to terminate the Contract in whole or in part if Buyer 

052



15 
 

determines, in its sole judgment, that such a delay will significantly impair the value of the Contract to 
Buyer. Providing notice in strict accordance with this paragraph is a condition precedent to such remedy. 
THE FOREGOING SHALL CONSTITUTE RESPONDENTS SOLE REMEDY OR EXCUSE WITH RESPECT TO DELAY. 
No claim for damages, other than for an extension of time, shall be asserted against Buyer. Respondent 
shall not be entitled to an increase in the Contract price or payment of any kind from Buyer for direct, 
indirect, consequential, impact or other costs, expenses or damages, including but not limited to costs of 
acceleration or inefficiency arising because of delay, disruption, interference, or hindrance from any 
cause whatsoever.  
 
3.31 No Waiver 
 The delay or failure by a party to exercise or enforce any of its rights under the 
Contract shall not constitute or be deemed a waiver of that party's right thereafter to 
enforce those rights, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any such right preclude 
any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right.  Unless 
otherwise agreed in writing, Buyer's payment for the Services shall not release 
Respondent of its obligations under the Contract and shall not be deemed a waiver of 
Buyer's right to insist upon strict performance hereof. 
 
3.32 Security Procedures 
 Respondent and its employees, subcontractors and agents shall comply fully with 
all generally applicable security procedures of the United States, the State of Texas and 
Buyer in performance of the Contract. Buyer agrees that any security procedures 
imposed by Buyer specifically for the Contract will be reasonable and will not 
impose any unreasonable costs or hardships. 
 
3.33 Restrictions on the Use or Disclosure of Buyer’s Information 
 Respondent shall not use, copy or disclose to third parties, except in connection 
with performing the Services, any information obtained by Respondent or its agents, 
subcontractors or employees in the course of performing the Services, including, but 
not limited to, security procedures, business operations information, or commercial 
proprietary information in the possession of Buyer. At Buyer's request, all information 
furnished by Buyer will be returned to Buyer upon completion of the Services. 
Respondent shall not be required to keep confidential any information that has 
already been made publicly available through no fault of Respondent or that 
Respondent developed independently without relying on Buyer's information.  To 
ensure confidentiality, Respondent shall take appropriate steps as to its employees, 
agents, and subcontractors, including the insertion of these restrictions in any 
subcontract agreement. The warranties of this paragraph shall survive the Contract. 
 
3.34 Protection of Respondent’s Trade Secrets and Other Confidential Information 
 Any specific information that Respondent claims to be a trade secret or otherwise 
exempt from the Texas Public Records Law must be clearly identified as such by 
Respondent on all copies furnished to Buyer. Buyer agrees to notify Respondent of any third 
party request to view such information, but it is Respondent 's obligation to obtain a 
court order enjoining disclosure.  If Respondent fails to obtain a court order enjoining 
disclosure within five (5) business days of Respondent 's receiving notice of the 
request, Buyer may release the requested information.  Such release shall be 
deemed for purposes of the Contract to be made with Respondent 's consent and 

053



16 

will not be deemed to be a violation of law, including but not limited to laws 
concerning trade secrets, copy right or other intellectual property. 

3.35 Warranty of Ability to Perform 
Respondent warrants that (I) it is ready, willing and able to perform its obligations 

under the Contract, and (II) to the best of Respondent 's knowledge, there are no pending 
or threatened actions, proceedings, investigations or any other legal or financial 
conditions that would in any way prohibit, restrain, or diminish Respondent 's ability to 
satisfy its Contract obligations. Respondent shall immediately notify Buyer in writing if its 
ability to perform is compromised in any manner during the term of the Contract. 

3.36 Warranty of Authority to Sign Contract 
Each person signing the Contract warrants that he or she is duly authorized to do 

so and to bind the respective party to the Contract.  

3.37 Certificate of Interested Parties (Form 1295)  
The following information regarding Form 1295 Information applies ONLY to an awarded vendor. 

The law states that a governmental entity may not enter into certain contracts with a non-exempt 

business entity unless the business entity submits a disclosure of interested parties to the governmental 

entity. By submitting a proposal in response to this solicitation, the Vendor agrees to comply with HB 

1295, Government Code 2252.908. Vendor agrees to provide TAD’s Purchasing Agent, and/or requesting 

department, the “Certificate of Interested Parties,” Form 1295 as required, within ten (10) business days 

from notification of pending award, renewal, amended or extended contract. 

The Filing Process: 

1. Prior to award by TAD, Vendor will be required to log in to the Texas Ethics Commission,
https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm and fill out the Electronic Filing
Application. 

2. Once submitted, the system will generate an electronic Form 1295 displaying a “Certificate Number.”
Vendor must print and complete Form 1295.

3. Within ten (10) business days from notification of pending award by the TAD Purchasing Agent, the
completed Form 1295 must be submitted to TAD.

4. Vendor will need to repeat the process and obtain a separate Form 1295 each time they enter into a
new contract, renew a contract or make modification, and/or amendments to a TAD contract.

Instruction and information are available at https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/filinginfo/1295/  or you may 

call the Texas Ethics Commission at (512) 463-5800. 

Conflict of Interest Disclosure Requirement 

Pursuant to Chapter 176 of the Local Government Code, any person or agent of a person who contracts 
or seeks to contract for the sale or purchase of property, goods, or services with a local governmental 
entity (i.e. TAD) must disclose in the Questionnaire Form CIQ (“Questionnaire”) the person’s affiliation or 

054

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm
https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/filinginfo/1295/


17 

business relationship that might cause a conflict of interest with the local governmental entity. By law, 
the Questionnaire must be filed with TAD no later than seven days after the date the person begins 
contract discussions or negotiations with TAD, or submits an application or response to a request for 
proposals or bids, correspondence, or another writing related to a potential agreement with TAD. 
Updated Questionnaires must be filed in conformance with Chapter 176.  

A copy of the Questionnaire Form CIQ is available at http://www.ethics.state.tx.us/forms/conflict. 

If you have any questions about compliance, please consult your own legal counsel. Compliance is the 
individual responsibility of each person or agent of a person who is subject to the filing requirement. An 
offense under Chapter 176 is a Class C misdemeanor.  

NOTE: If you are not aware of a Conflict of Interest in any business relationship that you might have with 

TAD, state Vendor name in the # 1, use N/A in each of the areas on the form. However, a signature is 

required in the #7 box in all cases. 

TAD Board members are Wendy Burgess, Rich DeOtte, Gary Losada, Joseph Martinez, Tony Pompa and 
Kathryn Wilemon.  TAD’s Chief Appraiser is Jeff Law. 

3.39 Prohibition on Contracting With Companies That Boycott Israel 
The individual/firm acknowledges that in accordance with Chapter 2270 of the Texas 

Government Code, TAD is prohibited from entering into a contract with a company for goods or services 
unless the contract contains a written verification from the company that it: (1) does not boycott Israel; 
and (2) will not boycott Israel during the term of the contract. The terms “boycott Israel” and “company” 
shall have the meanings ascribed to those terms in Section 808.001 of the Texas Government Code. By 
signing this contract, the individual/firm certifies that the individual/firm’s authorized representative’s 
signature provides written verification to TAD that the individual/firm: (1) does not boycott Israel; and 
(2) will not boycott Israel during the term of the contract.                     Revised August 31, 2017 

3.40 Companies Engaged In Business With Iran, Sudan, Or Foreign Terrorist Organization. 
Pursuant to Texas Government Code Chapter 2252, Subchapter F, Seller affirms that is it not 

identified on a list created by the Texas Comptroller of Public Accounts as a company known to have 
contracts with or provide supplies or services to a foreign terrorist organization. 

3.41   Ownership and Licenses. 
In accordance with Texas law, Respondent acknowledges and agrees that all local government 

records created or received in the transaction of official business or the creation or maintenance of 
which were paid for with public funds are declared to be public property and subject to the provisions of 
Chapter 201 of the Texas Local Government Code and Subchapter J, Chapter 441 of the Texas 
Government Code. Thus, no such local government records produced by or on the behalf of Respondent 
pursuant to this Contract shall be the subject of any copyright or proprietary claim by Respondent. 
The term “local government record” as used herein shall mean any document, paper, letter, book, map, 
photograph, sound or video recording, microfilm, magnetic tape, electronic medium, or other 
information recording medium, regardless of physical form or characteristic and regardless of whether 
public access to it is open or restricted under the laws of the state, created or received by local 
government or any of its officials or employees pursuant to law including an ordinance, or in the 
transaction of official business.  Respondent acknowledges and agrees that all local government records, 
as described in herein, produced in the course of the work required by any contract awarded pursuant 

055

http://www.ethics.state.tx.us/forms/conflict


18 

to this RFQ will belong to and be the property of TAD. Respondent, if awarded this contract, will be 
required to turn over to TAD, all such records as required by said contract. Respondent, if awarded this 
contract, shall not, under any circumstances, release any records created during the course of 
performance of the contract to any entity without TAD’s written permission, unless required to do so by 
a Court of competent jurisdiction.  In accordance herewith, Respondent, if selected, agrees to comply 
with all applicable federal, state and local laws, rules and regulations governing documents and 
ownership, access and retention thereof. 

3.42   Intellectual Property. 
If selected, Respondent agrees to abide by the following regarding intellectual property rights: 

Respondent shall pay all royalties and licensing fees. Respondent shall hold TAD harmless and indemnify 
TAD from the payment of any royalties, damages, losses or expenses including attorney's fees for suits, 
claims or otherwise, growing out of infringement or alleged infringement of copyrights, patents, materials 
and methods used in the project. It shall defend all suits for infringement of any Intellectual Property 
rights. Further, if Respondent has reason to believe that the design, service, process or product specified 
is an infringement of an Intellectual Property right, it shall promptly give such information to TAD. 

Upon receipt of notification that a third party claims that the program(s), hardware or both the program(s) 
and the hardware infringe upon any United States patent or copyright, Respondent will immediately: 

Either: 
obtain, at Respondent’s sole expense, the necessary license(s) or rights that would allow TAD to 
continue using the programs, hardware, or both the programs and hardware, as the case may be, 
or, 

alter the programs, hardware, or both the programs and hardware so that the alleged 
infringement is eliminated, and 

reimburse TAD for any expenses incurred by TAD  to implement emergency backup measures if 
TAD is prevented from using the programs, hardware, or both the programs and hardware while 
the dispute is pending.   

Respondent further agrees to: 

assume the defense of any claim, suit, or proceeding brought against TAD for infringement of any 
United States patent or copyright arising from the use and/or sale of the equipment or software 
under this Agreement,  

assume the expense of such defense, including costs of investigations, reasonable attorneys' 
fees, expert witness fees, damages, and any other litigation-related expenses, and indemnify 
TAD against any monetary damages and/or costs awarded in such suit;  

Provided that: 

Respondent is given sole and exclusive control of all negotiations relative to the settlement 
thereof, but that Respondent agrees to consult with the Attorney of TAD during such defense or 
negotiations and make good faith effort to avoid any position adverse to the interest of TAD,  

the Software or the equipment is used by TAD  in the form, state, or condition as delivered by 
Respondent or as modified without the permission of Respondent, so long as such modification is 
not the source of the infringement claim, 

056



19 

the liability claimed shall not have arisen out of TAD’s negligent act or omission, and TAD 
promptly provide Respondent with written notice within 15 days following the formal assertion of 
any claim with respect to which TAD asserts that Respondent assumes responsibility under this 
section. 

057



20 
 

Attachment A 

RESPONSE FORMAT 
 
Respondent’s Proposal shall include the following items in the following sequence, noted with the 
appropriate heading as indicated below. If Respondent is proposing as a team or joint venture, provide 
the same information for each member of the team or joint venture. 
 
If submitting a hard copy proposal, submit one (1) COMPLETE original hard copy of your proposal, 
signed in ink, Two (2) hard copies WITH ONLY TABS and documents for the General Information Form; 
Experience, Background, and Qualifications; Proposed Plan, etc. (NO PRICING SHOULD BE INCLUDED in 
the copies) and one (1) copy of the COMPLETE proposal (including pricing) on compact disk (CD) or USB 
flash drive containing an Adobe PDF version of the complete proposal (including pricing).  Each of the 
item requirements listed below must be labeled with the heading indicated below as a separate file on 
the CD or USB flash drive. 
 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY. The summary shall include a statement of the work to be accomplished, how 
Respondent proposes to accomplish and perform each specific service and unique problems perceived 
by Respondent and their solutions. 
 
GENERAL INFORMATION FORM. Use the Form found in this RFQ as Attachment C. 
 
EXPERIENCE, BACKGROUND, & QUALIFICATIONS. Use the Form found in this RFQ as Attachment D. 
 
PROPOSED PLAN. Use the Form found in this RFQ as Attachment E. 
 
PRICE SCHEDULE. Use the Price Schedule that is found in this RFQ as Attachment F. 
 
LITIGATION DISCLOSURE FORM. Complete and submit the Litigation Disclosure Form, found in this RFQ 
as Attachment G. If Respondent is proposing as a team or joint venture, then all persons or entities who 
will be parties to the contract (if awarded) shall complete and return this form. 
 
PROOF OF INSURABILITY. Submit a letter from insurance provider stating provider’s commitment to 
insure the Respondent for the types of coverages and at the levels specified in RFQ if awarded a contract 
in response to this RFQ. Respondent shall also submit a copy of their current insurance certificate. 
 
SIGNATURE PAGE. Respondent must complete, sign, and submit the Signature Page found in this RFQ as 
Attachment H. The Signature Page must be signed by a person, or persons, authorized to bind the entity, 
or entities, submitting the Response.  Responses signed by a person other than an officer of a corporate 
respondent or partner of partnership respondent shall be accompanied by evidence of authority. 
 
Respondent is expected to examine this RFQ  carefully, understand the terms and conditions for 
providing the services listed herein, and respond completely. FAILURE TO COMPLETE AND PROVIDE ANY 
OF THESE RESPONSE REQUIREMENTS MAY RESULT IN THE RESPONDENT’S RESPONSE  BEING DEEMED 
NONRESPONSIVE AND THEREFORE DISQUALIFIED FROM CONSIDERATION. 
 

058



21 

Attachment B: 

EVALUATION AND SELECTION PROCESS 

Evaluation of response s will be conducted by an evaluation committee comprised of qualified 
TAD staff. The committee will evaluate, score, and rank all responsive responses based upon the 
information and references contained in the responses submitted. Once each member of the 
Selection Committee has rated each response and completed a rating sheet, a composite is 
developed which will indicate the Committee’s collective ranking of the highest rated response 
in a descending order. Based on the response to this RFQ, the Selection Committee may select 
and/or recommend to the Board of Directors for Tarrant Appraisal District an individual/firm 
qualified to provide to TAD the services required under this RFQ.  

The following criteria will be used for evaluating Responses for Tarrant Appraisal District and will 
be based on certain objective and subjective considerations as listed below:  

Compliance with RFQ Instructions 
The response will be evaluated for general compliance with the instructions issued in the 
Request for Responses.  

 Letter of Introduction and Executive Summary        Maximum points available:    5 points 

 Project Approach and Work Plan    Maximum points available:  30 points 

 Project Team Qualifications & Relevant Experience   Maximum points available:  30 points

 Proposed Cost of Service        Maximum points available:  35 points 

Total Score (100 possible points) 

Award of this contract will be based on the selection criteria stated above and pertinent 
information provided in requested Response Format relating to the company’s 
experience, qualifications, personnel, availability, approach, and capability to provide 
and perform all of the services necessary to complete this project in an effective and 
timely manner.  It is the general policy of the Tarrant Appraisal District, with regards to purchasing, to 
follow these basic guidelines: 

 Encourage and seek competition among qualified vendors

 Actively pursue and obtain goods and services at either the lowest practicable
cost to TAD or that provide the best value to the district

 Assure that the public resources entrusted to TAD are used appropriately,
prudently, and lawfully

 Provide responsible vendors (including historically under-utilized businesses) a
fair and equitable opportunity to compete for and obtain TAD’s business

 To encourage and allow qualified minority/women-owned businesses to be
involved in the procurement of TAD’s goods and services

 Prohibit the discrimination of prospective vendors on the basis of race, color,
religion, national origin, handicap, or sex in the award of a contract or
procurement of goods and services

 To consider competition, best value to TAD, and quality of work, to be the
ultimate test in contractor, subcontractor, vendor, services, professional services
and supplier utilization

059



22 
 

Attachment C:  

GENERAL INFORMATION 
 

1. Respondent Information: Provide the following information regarding the 
Respondent. 
 
(NOTE: Co-Respondents are two or more entities proposing as a team or joint venture 
with each signing the contract, if awarded. Sub-contractors are not Co-Respondents 
and should not be identified here. If this response includes Co-Respondents, provide 
the required information in this Item #1 for each Co-Respondent by copying and 
inserting an additional block(s) before Item #2.) 
 
Respondent Name: ______________________________________________________ 
(NOTE: Give exact legal name as it will appear on the contract, if awarded.) 
Principal Address: _______________________________________________________ 
City: ________________________State: __________________Zip Code: __________ 
Telephone No._________________________ Fax No.:_________________________ 
Website address:_____________________________ 
Year established: _______________ 
Provide the number of years in business under present name: ____________________ 
Social Security Number or Federal Employer Identification Number: ________________ 
Texas Comptroller’s Taxpayer Number, if applicable: ___________________________ 
(NOTE: This 11-digit number is sometimes referred to as the Comptroller’s TIN or TID.) 
DUNS NUMBER:________________________________________________________ 
 
Business Structure: Check the box that indicates the business structure of the 
Respondent. 
 
___Individual or Sole Proprietorship If checked, list Assumed Name, if any: 
 ____________________________________________ 
___ Partnership 
___Corporation If checked, check one: ___For-Profit ___ Nonprofit 
Also, check one: ___Domestic ___Foreign 
___Other If checked, list business structure: __________________________________ 
 
Printed Name of Contract Signatory: ________________________________________ 
Job Title: _____________________________________________________________ 
Provide any other names under which Respondent has operated within the last 10 
years and length of time under for each: 
______________________________________________________________________ 
______________________________________________________________________ 
______________________________________________________________________ 
 
Provide address of office from which this project would be managed: 
City: ______________________State: __________________Zip Code: ____________ 

060



23 
 

Telephone No._________________________ Fax No: __________________________ 
Annual Revenue: $__________________ 
Total Number of Employees: __________________ 
Total Number of Current Clients/Customers: __________________ 
Briefly describe other lines of business that the company is directly or indirectly affiliated 
with: 
______________________________________________________________________ 
______________________________________________________________________ 
______________________________________________________________________ 
List Related Companies: 
______________________________________________________________________ 
______________________________________________________________________ 
______________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
2. Contact Information: List the one person who TAD may contact concerning your 
response or setting dates for meetings. 
Name: ____________________________ Title: _______________________________ 
Address:_______________________________________________________________ 
City: __________________________State: __________________Zip Code: _______ 
Telephone No._______________________ Fax No: ____________________________ 
Email: ________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
3. Does Respondent anticipate any mergers, transfer of organization ownership, 
management reorganization, or departure of key personnel within the next twelve (12) 
months? 
Yes ___ No ___ 
 
 
4. Is Respondent authorized and/or licensed to do business in Texas? 
Yes ___ No ___ If “Yes”, list authorizations/licenses. 
______________________________________________________________________ 
______________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
5. Where is the Respondent’s corporate headquarters located? 
______________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
6. Local/County Operation: Does the Respondent have an office located in Tarrant 
County, Texas? 
Yes ___ No ___ If “Yes”, respond to a and b below: 
a. How long has the Respondent conducted business from its Tarrant County office? 
Years _______ Months_______ 
b. State the number of full-time employees at the Tarrant County office. 

061



24 

7. Debarment/Suspension Information: Has the Respondent or any of its principals
been debarred or suspended from contracting with any public entity?
Yes ___ No ___ If “Yes”, identify the public entity and the name and current phone
number of a representative of the public entity familiar with the debarment or
suspension, and state the reason for or circumstances surrounding the debarment or
suspension, including but not limited to the period of time for such
debarment or suspension.
______________________________________________________________________
______________________________________________________________________

8. Surety Information: Has the Respondent ever had a bond or surety canceled or
forfeited?
Yes ___ No ___ If “Yes”, state the name of the bonding company, date, amount of bond
and reason for
such cancellation or forfeiture.
______________________________________________________________________
______________________________________________________________________

9. Bankruptcy Information: Has the Respondent ever been declared bankrupt or filed
for protection from creditors under state or federal proceedings?
Yes ___ No ___ If “Yes”, state the date, court, jurisdiction, cause number, amount of
liabilities and
amount of assets.
______________________________________________________________________
______________________________________________________________________

10. Disciplinary Action: Has the Respondent ever received any disciplinary action, or
any pending disciplinary action, from any regulatory bodies or professional
organizations? If “Yes”, state the name of the regulatory body or professional
organization, date and reason for disciplinary or impending disciplinary action.
______________________________________________________________________
______________________________________________________________________

11. Previous Contracts:
a. Has the Respondent ever failed to complete any contract awarded?
Yes ___ No ___ If “Yes”, state the name of the organization contracted with, services
contracted,
date, contract amount and reason for failing to complete the contract.
______________________________________________________________________
______________________________________________________________________

062



25 

b. Has any officer or partner proposed for this assignment ever been an officer or
partner of some other organization that failed to complete a contract?
Yes ___ No ___ If “Yes”, state the name of the individual, organization contracted with,
services contracted, date, contract amount and reason for failing to complete the
contract.
______________________________________________________________________
______________________________________________________________________
c. Has any officer or partner proposed for this assignment ever failed to complete a
contract handled in his or
her own name?
Yes ___ No ___ If “Yes”, state the name of the individual, organization contracted with,
services
contracted, date, contract amount and reason for failing to complete the contract.
______________________________________________________________________
______________________________________________________________________

REFERENCES: 

Provide Three (3) references, that Respondent has provided services to within the past 
three (3) years. The contact person named should be familiar with the day-to-day 
management of the contract and be willing to respond to questions regarding the type, 
level, and quality of service provided. 

Reference No. 1: 
Firm/Company Name ____________________________________________________ 
Contact Name: ____________________________ Title: ________________________ 
Address: ______________________________________________________________ 
City: __________________________State: _______________Zip Code: ___________ 
Telephone No._________________________ Fax No: __________________________ 
Email: ________________________________________________________________ 
Date and Type of Service(s) Provided: _______________________________________ 
______________________________________________________________________ 

Reference No. 2: 
Firm/Company Name ____________________________________________________ 
Contact Name:_____________________________ Title: ________________________ 
Address: ______________________________________________________________ 
City: __________________________State: _______________Zip Code: ___________ 
Telephone No._________________________ Fax No: __________________________ 
Email: _______________________________________________________________ 
Date and Type of Service(s) Provided: _______________________________________ 
______________________________________________________________________ 

063



26 

Reference No. 3: 
Firm/Company Name ____________________________________________________ 
Contact Name: ____________________________ Title: ________________________ 
Address: ______________________________________________________________ 
City: __________________________State: _______________Zip Code: ___________ 
Telephone No._________________________ Fax No: __________________________ 
Email: ________________________________________________________________ 
Date and Type of Service(s) Provided: _______________________________________ 
______________________________________________________________________

064



27 

Attachment D: 

EXPERIENCE, BACKGROUND, QUALIFICATIONS 

Prepare and submit narrative responses to address the following items. 

1. List of primary contacts and resumes for those individuals assigned to the account.

2. Experience relevant to the Scope of Services requested by this RFQ to include but
not limited to: 

a. Practice of ad valorem appraisal
b. Analysis of metrics used in ad valorem appraisal and the International

Association of Assessing Officers “IAAO” Standards 
c. Knowledge of Texas property tax laws
d. Knowledge of Tarrant County and Texas housing markets (incl. other urban

Texas markets noted in RFQ) 
e. Knowledge of key aspects of the Tarrant County economy including

employment, anchor industries, and tourism 

3. List and describe relevant projects of similar scope performed over the past four
years. Include date(s) and client names. Identify associated results or impacts of 
the work performed. 

4. Years of experience the Respondent has provided services of similar type, scope and
complexity. 

5. Specify experience with public entity clients in Texas.

065



28 

Attachment E: 

PROPOSED PLAN 

Prepare and submit the following items: 

1. Describe, in detail, the proposed plan to meet the Scope of Services requested,
including: 

a. Perform the calculations noted in the “work to be performed” heading in
Section 4 of  this RFQ: 

2. Describe the steps involved in deriving a comparison certain aspects of the property
tax operations of the Tarrant Appraisal District (TAD) and; 

a. Harris CAD
b. Travis CAD
c. Bexar CAD
d. Dallas CAD
e. El Paso CAD

3. Compile the resulting statistics and comparisons in charts, graphs, and text to
illustrate changes in volume and rates of notices of protest and orders 
determining protest among the five appraisal districts over tax years 2015 
through 2019. 

4. Describe the specific format in which the first part of the review will be provided to
TAD, to include: 

a. Maps, charts and graphs
b. Narrative conclusions

5. Provide detailed implementation plan and timeline the Project

066



29 

Attachment F: 

PRICE SCHEDULE 

Please provide your rate for providing the services described in this RFQ and Total. 
All services described in this RFQ and your response shall be included in the Consultant 
Services Fee, unless separate pricing has been provided for within this Price Schedule. 

CONSULTING SERVICES FEE(S) $______________________ 

Proposed Price should be inclusive of any and all labor and materials, service equipment, tools, 
transportation, set p charges, travel, methods of communication and miscellaneous services as 
necessary to complete the work as defined in the Section 1.2 - Scope of Service and in 
accordance with Section 1.3 – Term of Contract of this RFQ if awarded a contract pursuant to 
this solicitation.  Respondent’s response must be based on the proposed contract term, 
including renewal periods, stated in this RFQ.  Proposing a different term of contract, or renewal 
terms may lead to disqualification of Respondent’s response from consideration. As such, 
Respondent must provide pricing in the manner set forth in the RFQ’s Price Schedule. Failure to 
do so may lead to disqualification of Respondent’s response from consideration. 

067



30 

Attachment G: 

LITIGATION DISCLOSURE FORM 

Respond to each of the questions below by checking the appropriate box. Failure to fully and 
truthfully disclose the information required by this Litigation Disclosure form may result in the 
disqualification of your response from consideration or termination of the contract, once awarded. 

Have you or any member of your Firm or Team to be assigned to this engagement ever been indicted or 
convicted of a felony or misdemeanor greater than a Class C in the last five (5) years? 
Yes ___ No ___ 

Have you or any member of your Firm or Team to be assigned to this engagement been terminated (for 
cause or otherwise) from any work being performed for the TAD or any other Federal, State or Local 
Government, or Private Entity? 
Yes ___ No ___ 

Have you or any member of your Firm or Team to be assigned to this engagement been involved in any 
claim or litigation with the Tarrant Appraisal District or any other Federal, State or Local Government, or 
Private Entity during the last ten (10) years? 
Yes ___ No ___ 

If you have answered “Yes” to any of the above questions, please indicate the name(s) of the 
person(s), the nature, and the status and/or outcome of the information, indictment, conviction, 
termination, claim or litigation, as applicable. Any such information should be provided on a 
separate page, attached to this form and submitted with your response. 

068



31 

Attachment H: 

SIGNATURE PAGE 

By submitting a response, Respondent represents that: 

If awarded a contract in response to this RFQ, Respondent will be able and willing to execute a contract 
with the understanding that the scope and compensation provisions will be negotiated and included in the 
final document. 

If Respondent is a corporation, Respondent will be required to provide a certified copy of the resolution 
evidencing authority to enter into the contract, if other than an officer will be signing the contract. 

If awarded a contract in response to this RFQ, Respondent will be able and willing to comply with all 
representations made by Respondent in Respondent’s response and during Response process. 

Respondent has fully and truthfully submitted a Litigation Disclosure form with the understanding that 
failure to disclose the required information may result in disqualification of response from consideration. 

Respondent agrees to fully and truthfully submit the Respondent General Information form and 
understands that failure to fully disclose requested information may result in disqualification of response 
from consideration or termination of contract, once awarded. 

 Respondent is authorized to submit this response on behalf of the entity. 

Complete the following and sign on the signature line below. Failure to sign and submit this Signature 
Page will result in rejection of your response. 

Respondent Entity Name: 

Signature: _______________________________________ 

Printed Name: ____________________________________ 

Title: ____________________________________________ 

(NOTE: If response is submitted by Co-Respondents, an authorized signature from a 
representative of each Co-Respondent is required. Add additional signature blocks as required.) 
While Co-Respondent does not have to submit a copy of Respondent’s response, Co-
Respondent should answer any questions or provide any information directed specifically to Co-
Respondent. 

Co-Respondent Entity Name: 

Signature: _______________________________________ 

Printed Name: ____________________________________ 

Title: ____________________________________________ 

069



32 

Attachment I: 

Included for your further information is the document that initially sparked TAD’s interest in looking 
closer at and doing more detailed work with the data elements specified in Section 1 

070



November 6, 2020 

Ref: Communications Survey Services Request for Qualifications 

Dear Responder:  

The Tarrant Appraisal District (TAD) will require the services of an individual/firm to provide the 
referenced services. Enclosed is a copy of the Request for Qualifications.  

In order to establish a list of qualified, interested, and available people, this letter is being directed to 

you. If interested in providing the specific services please provide TAD with the following:  

A) ONE (1) MANUALLY SIGNED ORIGINAL.  TWO (2) HARD COPIES  AND ONE (1) EXACT COPY ON

USB DRIVE (in .pdf format excluding your financials) of your qualifications, unless additional

copies are otherwise requested in the Request for Qualifications, specifically stating your

interest and any other specific information or statements called for in the enclosed Request for

Qualifications.

B) Complete information about your firm and staff qualifications.

C) A list of projects which indicate specific background and experience in the program area being

considered.

D) A quotation of proposed rates, fees or charges, and other detailed cost proposal or cost

breakdown information.

Any questions regarding this RFQ should be submitted via email ONLY to Jeff Craig at: JCraig@TAD.org 

no later than 2 PM Friday, November 20, 2020. The answers to the questions received will be 

distributed in the form of an addendum shortly thereafter.  

If any addenda are issued to this RFQ, a good faith attempt will be made to deliver a copy to each of 

those Proposers who, according to the records of TAD, has requested a copy of this RFQ and will be 

posted on TAD’s website www.tad.org/about/procurement/.  However, prior to submitting a response, 

it shall be the responsibility of the Proposer to contact the Tarrant Appraisal District as JCraig@TAD.org 

to determine if addenda were issued and, if so, to obtain such addenda for attachment to their 

response.  

Your response must be received no later than 2 PM Tuesday, December 1, 2020, and directed to: 

Tarrant Appraisal District – COMMUNICATIONS SURVEY SERVICES RFQ

Attn: Jeff Craig, Director of Administration 
2500 Handley-Ederville Rd 

Fort Worth, TX 76118 

If hand delivered (discouraged due to Covid-19) to our front door, your package/response must be date and time stamped by a 
TAD employee upon receipt. If it “appears” in our offices after the deadline and there is no date/time stamp, it will be rejected. 

Yours Very Truly, 

    Jeff Craig 

071

mailto:mcastle@mcad-tx.org
mailto:mcastle@mcad-tx.org


2 

COMMUNICATION S SURVEY 

 SERVICES 

REQUEST FOR 

QUALIFICATIONS 

November 6, 2020 

DUE BY OR BEFORE 2:00PM, DECEMBER 1, 2020 

072



3 

REQUEST FOR QUALIFICATIONS 
COMMUNICATIONS SURVEY SERVICES 

November 6, 2020 

Part 1.  Introduction 

The Tarrant Appraisal District (TAD) seeks to enter into an agreement with a qualified firm or 
individual that has substantial and relevant experience and expertise to provide 
communications survey services.  TAD would like to examine if and how appraisal districts’ 
publicizing the availability of the process and how to protest may have affected the number of 
protests files with their appraisal review boards and evaluate the survey results for possible use 
in creating a communications strategic plan.  

TAD is a political subdivision of the State of Texas, having been established under the Texas 
Property Tax Code by the Texas Legislature in 1979. The District is responsible for the appraisal 
of, and arriving at fair market values for, property subject to ad valorem taxation in Tarrant 
County. The district is governed by a six member Board of Directors that appoint a Chief 
Appraiser/Executive Director who serves as the district’s chief administrator. 

TAD seeks responses from qualified Respondents interested in providing the services as 
described in this RFQ.  The Successful Proposer(s) must meet all requirements of the RFQ 
maintain proper licensing, and comply with all federal, state. And local laws and mandates 
relative to the services specified in this RFQ. 

Identifying and understanding the role media coverage and direct mail solicitations impact the 
property tax appraisal and equalization phases and the possible effects they may have on 
appeals filed with the Tarrant Appraisal Review Board is an impetus for requesting a review 
such as this one.  This service might also set the stage for TAD to create a communications 
strategic plan. This plan will ultimately identify key communication themes in support of TAD’s 
identity and brand, provide guidance to ensure consistent messages across TAD’s 
communication platforms, and create a basis to measure outcomes and success. 

Part 2.  Scope of Services, Required Work Products and Submission Deadlines 

A. GENERAL

The goal of the Communications Survey is to Identify and understand the role media coverage 
and direct mail solicitations regarding the protest phase of the property tax appraisal and 
equalization phases and what effect that may have  had on protests filed with the Tarrant 
Appraisal Review Board.  This service might also set the stage for TAD to create a 
communications strategic plan. These plans will ultimately identify key communication themes 

073



4 

in support of TAD’s identity and brand, provide guidance to ensure consistent messages across 
TAD’s communication platforms, and create a basis to measure outcomes and success. 

B. CONTRACTOR RESPONSIBILITIES

The Scope of Work specifies the products and services that TAD expects to acquire from the 
Successful Proposer(s) as a result of the solicitation.  
The Contractor shall be responsible for:  

1. Analyze how awareness of the property tax appraisal and equalization affects the filing of
protests to the Tarrant Appraisal Review Board.

a. Perform a thorough search of articles and marketing materials within each of the years 2016,
2017, 2018, 2019 to obtain articles or news reports on the appraisal districts (CADs) in each of
the 5 major urban counties to Identify and understand the role media coverage and direct mail
solicitations regarding the property tax appraisal and equalization phases and what effect that
may have had on protests filed with the Tarrant Appraisal Review Board.  The urban CAD’s and
media markets include Tarrant, Dallas, Harris, Bexar and Travis.

Media coverage investigated should be focused on that which directly relates to the availability 
of the protest and informal resolution processes.   

2. Inventory and assess TAD communication channels.

a. Create an inventory of TAD communication platforms and channels such as the website,
social media pages, newsletters, signage, reports, etc.

b. Assess the value of each channel in communicating and encouraging engagement with target
constituent groups. This assessment would include research into channels used by benchmark
CAD’s and similar organizations and their effectiveness.

c. Make recommendations regarding the addition, enhancement, combination, or elimination
of channels.

3. Measure outcomes of efforts.

a. Measure effectiveness of communication and marketing efforts as they relate to community
awareness, engagement, or behavioral change

b. Suggest metrics to determine if outcomes are being met.

074



5 

4. Assess communications and marketing resources.

a. Assess resources for communications and marketing including: advertising budgets, staffing,
contracted services, equipment, facilities, training, software, organizational structure, etc.

b. Make recommendations to better organize and enhance current resources needed to
implement messaging objectives.

5. Map out communications and engagement opportunities.

a. Review systems and processes that TAD uses in communicating with the media, social media,
and the public

b. Suggest systems and processes that will enable TAD to strengthen communications at all
levels of the organization and to be more proactive in communicating with the media and the
public

c. Identify opportunities to collaborate across TAD departments on communication and
marketing opportunities

6. Identify and evaluate relationships with constituent groups.

a. Identify constituent groups
b. Define strength of relationship with each group. Determine if the connection could/should
be strengthened.

Part 3.  Response Submission Requirements 

 The Purchasing Department will not accept oral responses or responses received by telephone or 
FAX machine. Responses must be prepared simply and economically, providing a straightforward, 
concise description of Proposer’s ability to meet all requirements and specifications of this RFQ. 
Emphasis should be focused on completeness, clarity of content, and responsiveness to all 
requirements and specifications of this RFQ.  

The response must be submitted in hard copy. Responder shall submit one (1) evident original and 
five (2) copies, marked “copy” of the entire response, plus one (1) digital copy (on CD, DVD or 
thumb drive).  

TAD requires complete responses to every section within this RFQ. The intent of the response 
format is to expedite review and evaluation. To facilitate the review of the responses, Proposers 

075



6 

shall follow the described format. It is not the intent to constrain Proposers with regard to content, 
but to assure that the specific requirements set forth in this RFQ are addressed in a uniform manner 
amenable to review. 

TAB “A” - FIRM BACKGROUND  
TAD is seeking a firm(s) with qualified experience and the capacity to provide the services required. 
1. Briefly introduce the firm and provide number of years in business.

2. Provide a summary of the administration, organization and staffing of the firm, including multiple
offices, if applicable.

3. Include the same for any associate firm or sub-consultant.

4. Provide the location of the firm or branch that will provide services to TAD.

TAB “B” - PROJECT EXPERIENCE and QUALIFICATIONS 

1. Provide details on experience and qualifications of the firm in performing services of similar
scope and size related to RFQ scope.
2. Describe at least three (3) projects that are complementary in nature to this project.
References for each project should be included (preferably other CAD’s, municipal, or local
governments that the proposer has provided services to).
3. Identify the proposed team members who will provide services. Provide details on their
experience and qualifications. Include resumes for each person to be assigned. Include any
professional designations and affiliations, certifications and licenses, etc.

TAB “C” - PROPOSED PLAN and TECHNICAL APPROACH 
1. Provide a narrative description of the Firms’ plan to accomplish the work and services to be
provided to TAD. Provide timelines and graphs for completing the work. Demonstrate capacity to
complete the work. Clearly acknowledge your understanding of the Scope of Work.

2. Provide suggestions and ideas for managing this project in an efficient, effective and innovative
manner.

3. Identify progress reports that will be made available during the process and key decision points.

TAB “D” - COST PROPOSAL 
1. Provide a fixed fee not to exceed total cost proposal to include travel expenses.

2. The actual contract amount will be negotiated after the Firm has been selected and the scope of
work finalized.

076



7 

Part 4.  Terms and Conditions 

A. The attached “Communications Survey Services Terms and Conditions” is, by reference,
incorporated into this Request for Qualifications and will automatically be a part of any
subsequent contract awards and contracts.

B. Requests for information pursuant to the Texas Open Records Act should be promptly
directed to TAD’s Public Information Officer for handling. The selected firm should not respond
to any such requests.

C. In compliance with Chapter 552 of the Texas Open Records Act, Section 22.27 of the Texas
Property Tax Code, and other relevant statutes, judicial decisions, and Texas Attorneys General
opinions, the selected firm shall maintain the confidentiality of reports, statements, renditions,
and other information for which confidentiality has been promised or which is otherwise
lawfully excepted from public disclosure.

D. The selected firm shall maintain, retain and preserve any and all records and information
hereunder in compliance with Subtitle C., Title 6, of the Local Government Code and rules
adopted under that title. Upon completion or termination of the Communications Survey
Services Agreement contemplated herewith, the selected firm shall timely provide all such
records, data, and information, in good and usable condition and form, to TAD at no additional
cost to the District.

E. Throughout the term of the Communications Survey Services Agreement contemplated
herewith, TAD  shall have, with proper advance notice and during normal business hours, open,
complete, and free access to, and the right to examine, audit, and copy, any and all records,
data, and other information associated with the services and work products provided by the
selected firm, exclusive of any unrelated and/or proprietary information, computer software,
and similar tangible and intangible property owned and/or licensed by the selected firm.

Part 5. Exceptions 

Any exceptions to, or variances from, the Scope of Services, Required Work Products and 
Submission Deadlines and other provisions of this RFQ, including the Communications Survey 
Services  Terms and Conditions must be noted as exceptions and fully explained in writing in 
RFQ submissions. 

077



8 

Part 6.  Submissions and Submission Deadlines 

Firms must submit ONE (1) original copy, TWO (2) copies and ONE (1) pdf copy on USB drive of 
their RFQ Submission in a sealed envelope marked “Communications Survey Services Cost 
Submission”. 

All submissions must be received at TAD by or before 2:00 P.M.  December 1, 2020.  Submissions 
should be addressed as follows: 

Tarrant Appraisal District 
Communications Survey Services RFQ” 
2500 Handley-Ederville Road 
Fort Worth, Texas   76118-6909 
Attn:  Jeff Craig  

Part 7.  Questions 
Questions pertaining to this Request for Qualifications should be directed to Jeff Craig at (817) 
595-6002 during normal business hours.

078



9 

TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

These terms and conditions are, by reference, incorporated into and made a part of the Tarrant 
Appraisal District (TAD) November 6, 2020 “Communications Survey Services” Request for 
Qualifications” (RFQ) and any and all subsequent contract awards and purchase orders. 

Late Submissions 
RFQs received by TAD after the submission deadline will be considered void and unacceptable. 
TAD is not responsible for lateness or non-delivery of mail, carrier, etc. 

Altering Submissions 
RFQs cannot be altered or amended after the submission deadline.  Any interlineations, 
alteration, or erasure made before opening must be initialed by the signer of the RFQ, 
guaranteeing authenticity. 

Withdrawal of RFQ 
A RFQ may not be withdrawn or cancelled by the firm without TAD’s permission for a period of 
ninety (90) days following the date designated for the receipt of RFQs, and the firm so agrees 
upon submittal of its RFQ. 

Funding 
Funds for payment have been provided through the TAD budget approved by its Board of 
Directors for this fiscal year only. Texas state statutes prohibit the obligation and expenditure of 
public funds beyond the fiscal year for which a budget has been approved.  Therefore, 
anticipated orders or other obligations that may arise after the end of the current fiscal year 
shall be subject to budget approval. 

Sales Tax 
TAD is exempt from payment of Texas sales tax and federal excise tax. 

Contract 
This RFQ, when properly accepted or approved by TAD, will constitute a contract equally 
binding between the successful firm and TAD. No different or additional terms will become a 
part of this contract except upon written changes agreed upon by the parties. 

Independent Contractor Status 
The selected firm acknowledges that it is an independent contractor, and, as such, understands 
that TAD is not liable to the selected firm for any benefits or coverages as provided by the 
workers’ compensation and/or unemployment compensation laws of the State of Texas and 
that anyone employed by the selected firm shall not be considered an employee of TAD for 
purposes of workers’ compensation and/or unemployment compensation coverage. 
Furthermore, the selected firm declares, as an independent contractor, that it has been and will 

079



10 

be free from any control or direction by TAD over its performance of the services and provision 
of the work products covered by this contract. 

Changes 
No oral statement of any person shall modify or otherwise change or affect the terms, 
conditions, or requirements stated in the resulting contract.  All changes to this contract shall 
be made in writing as agreed upon by the parties. 

Certificate of Interested Parties (Form 1295) 

The following information regarding Form 1295 Information applies ONLY to an awarded vendor. 

The law states that a governmental entity may not enter into certain contracts with a non-exempt 

business entity unless the business entity submits a disclosure of interested parties to the governmental 

entity. By submitting a proposal in response to this solicitation, the Vendor agrees to comply with HB 

1295, Government Code 2252.908. Vendor agrees to provide TAD’s Purchasing Agent, and/or requesting 

department, the “Certificate of Interested Parties,” Form 1295 as required, within ten (10) business days 

from notification of pending award, renewal, amended or extended contract. 

The Filing Process: 

1. Prior to award by TAD, Vendor will be required to log in to the Texas Ethics Commission,
https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm and fill out the Electronic Filing
Application. 

2. Once submitted, the system will generate an electronic Form 1295 displaying a “Certificate Number.”
Vendor must print and complete Form 1295.

3. Within ten (10) business days from notification of pending award by the TAD Purchasing Agent, the
completed Form 1295 must be submitted to TAD.

4. Vendor will need to repeat the process and obtain a separate Form 1295 each time they enter into a
new contract, renew a contract or make modification, and/or amendments to a TAD contract.

Instruction and information are available at https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/filinginfo/1295/  or you may 

call the Texas Ethics Commission at (512) 463-5800. 

Conflict of Interest Disclosure Requirement 

Pursuant to Chapter 176 of the Local Government Code, any person or agent of a person who contracts 
or seeks to contract for the sale or purchase of property, goods, or services with a local governmental 
entity (i.e. TAD) must disclose in the Questionnaire Form CIQ (“Questionnaire”) the person’s affiliation or 
business relationship that might cause a conflict of interest with the local governmental entity. By law, 
the Questionnaire must be filed with TAD no later than seven days after the date the person begins 
contract discussions or negotiations with TAD, or submits an application or response to a request for 
proposals or bids, correspondence, or another writing related to a potential agreement with TAD. 
Updated Questionnaires must be filed in conformance with Chapter 176.  

080

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm
https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/filinginfo/1295/


11 

A copy of the Questionnaire Form CIQ is available at http://www.ethics.state.tx.us/forms/conflict. 

If you have any questions about compliance, please consult your own legal counsel. Compliance is the 
individual responsibility of each person or agent of a person who is subject to the filing requirement. An 
offense under Chapter 176 is a Class C misdemeanor.  

NOTE: If you are not aware of a Conflict of Interest in any business relationship that you might have with 

TAD, state Vendor name in the # 1, use N/A in each of the areas on the form. However, a signature is 

required in the #7 box in all cases. 

TAD Board members are Wendy Burgess, Rich DeOtte, Gary Losada, Joseph Martinez, Tony Pompa and 
Kathryn Wilemon.  TAD’s Chief Appraiser is Jeff Law. 

PROHIBITION ON CONTRACTING WITH COMPANIES THAT BOYCOTT ISRAEL  
The firm acknowledges that in accordance with Chapter 2270 of the Texas Government Code, 
TAD is prohibited from entering into a contract with a company for goods or services unless the 
contract contains a written verification from the company that it: (1) does not boycott Israel; 
and (2) will not boycott Israel during the term of the contract. The terms “boycott Israel” and 
“company” shall have the meanings ascribed to those terms in Section 808.001 of the Texas 
Government Code. By signing this contract, the firm certifies that the firm’s authorized 
representative’s signature provides written verification to TAD that the firm: (1) does not 
boycott Israel; and (2) will not boycott Israel during the term of the contract.  
Revised August 31, 2017. 

COMPANIES ENGAGED IN BUSINESS WITH IRAN, SUDAN, OR FOREIGN TERRORIST 
ORGANIZATION.  Pursuant to Texas Government Code Chapter 2252, Subchapter F, Seller 
affirms that is it not identified on a list created by the Texas Comptroller of Public Accounts as a 
company known to have contracts with or provide supplies or services to a foreign terrorist 
organization. 

Ethics 
The respondent shall not offer or accept gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business 
arrangement with any employee, official, or agent of TAD. 

Lawful Compliance 
The selected firm must comply with all relevant federal, state, county and local laws in the 
performance of the services and provision of the products provided herewith. 

TAD Indemnification 
The selected firm shall defend, indemnify, and hold harmless TAD and all of its officers, agents, 
and employees from all suits, actions, or other claims of any character, name, or description 
brought for or on account of any injuries or damages received or sustained by any person, 

081

http://www.ethics.state.tx.us/forms/conflict


12 

persons, or property on account of any negligent act or fault of the selected firm, and/or any of 
the selected firm’s agents, employees, subcontractors, or suppliers in the execution of, or 
performance under, any contract award and/or purchase order. The selected firm indemnifies 
and will indemnify and save harmless TAD from liability, claim, or demand on its part and its 
agents, servants, customers, and/or employees whether such liability, claim, or demand arise 
from event or casualty happening on or within TAD premises themselves or happening upon or 
in any halls, entrances, stairways, driveways, parking areas, or approaches of or to TAD 
property.  The selected firm shall pay any judgment with costs which may be obtained against 
TAD growing out of any such injury or damages. 

Wages 
The selected firm shall pay or cause to be paid, without cost or expense to TAD, all such wages 
and benefits to its employees as required by state and federal law. 

Payment 
Payment to the selected firm shall be made subsequent to TAD receipt and acceptance of the 
specified work products and within 30 days following TAD receipt of an accurate invoice for 
same. Periodic progress payments may be made, subject to verifiable evidence or 
documentation that indicated work and progress have actually occurred and that such payment 
is warranted. Any such progress payments may be subject to withholding 10% retainage, with 
accumulated retainage amounts being paid upon TAD receipt and acceptance of all specified 
work products for a particular tax year. Payment for authorized as-needed lawsuit-related 
services shall be made within 30 days of TAD receipt of accurate invoices for same.  

Termination of Contract 
TAD reserves the right to enforce the performance of this contract in any manner prescribed by 
law or deemed to be in the best interest of TAD in the event of breach or default of this 
contract.  In the event the selected shall fail to perform, keep, or observe any of the 
requirements, terms or conditions of this contract, TAD may give the selected firm written 
notice of such default and, if same is not remedied to the satisfaction and approval of TAD 
within two (2) working days of receipt of such notice, default may be declared and all the 
selected firm’s rights shall terminate. 

Assignment 
The selected firm shall not assign, transfer, sell, or convey this contract, in whole or in part, 
without the prior written consent of TAD. 

Venue 
This contract will be governed and construed according to the laws of the State of Texas and is 
performable in Tarrant County, Texas. 

082



13 

Silence of Specifications 
The apparent silence of the RFQ (including these terms and conditions and the cost submission 
form) as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a detailed description concerning 
any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best commercial practices are to prevail. 
All interpretations of the RFQ shall be made on the basis of this statement. 

083



084



085



086



087



088



089



090



091



092



093



094



095



096



097



098



099



100



101



102



103



104



105



106



107



108



109



110



6. Information Item

Report by Taxpayer Liaison Officer

111



Taxpayer Liaison Officer Monthly Report 
To TAD Board of Directors  

February  2021 

 Category Year 2020 January 2021 February 2021 March 2021 
HS Exemption 
Over 65 Exemption 
Disabled Vet 
Exemption 
Statement Copies 

   15 
 4 
 1 

 5 
Ownership    17 1 
Value Statement or 
Value Increase  
Password/PIN   6 
BPP Rendition   1 
Taxes     13   2  1 
How to Protest   9 
ARB Hearings   6    1 
Status of Protest   1 
Tax Code   2 
Vehicle Inventory 
Tax 

  1 

Totals     81   3  2 

Prepared by: 

Shirley Jacobson 

Taxpayer Liaison Officer 

March 19, 2021 

112


	1.  AGENDA PACKET - cover
	AGENDA PACKET

	2.  Item 5(a) cover
	3.  Board of Directors Meeting Minutes February 12, 2021
	4.  Item 5(b) cover
	5. By Year, Protests to Parcel Comparisons (March 18, 2021); provided by Mr. DeOtte on March 18, 2021
	6.  Agenda Packet Supplement (January 2021); provided by Mr. Law
	1 revised.pdf
	2.pdf
	3.pdf
	4.pdf
	5.pdf

	7.  Ad Valorem Protest Review Services Request for Qualifications (November 6, 2020)
	8.  Communications Survey Services Request for Qualifications (November 6, 2020)
	9. Statewide Appraisal Protests by Large Urban County (February 13, 2020) – prepared by Mr. DeOtte
	10.  Aumentum Independent Verification and Validation Proced-ures  Results (December 16, 2016); mark-up prov
	11.  Item 6 cover
	12.  Taxpayer Liaison Officer Monthly Report to TAD Board of Directors – February 2021
	1.  AGENDA PACKET - cover FINAL.pdf
	AGENDA PACKET




